
CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATENIEI\ITS

FORTHEYEARS ENDED

DECEIUBER St, 2o2t, 2022 AND 2o2B



I
pwc W*F\,+€

Indep endent Auditor' s Rep ort
To the Board of Directors of Cirrus Aircraft Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

l,that we haue audited

The consolidated financial statements of Cirrus Aircraft Limited (the "Company") and its
subsidiaries (the "Group"), which are set out on pages 5 to 7o, comprise:
. the consolidated statements of financial position as of Decemb er gt, 2o2L, zozz and zozg;
o the statements of financial position of the Company as of December gt,2o2r,zozz andzozg;
o the consolidated statements of profit or loss for the years ended December 3t, 2o2L, 2e22

and zoz3 (the "Relevant Years");
o the consolidated statements of comprehensive income for the Relevant Years;
. the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the Relevant Years;
. the consolidated statement of cash flows for the Relevant Years;
o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material accounting policy

information and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Company as of December BL,2o2r, zozz and zoz3 and the consolidated financial
position of the Group as of December 31, 2021, zozz and zoz3, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the Relevant Years in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing ("ISAs"). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants ("IESBA Code"), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.
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Indep endent Auditor's Rep ort
To the Board of Directors of Cirrus Aircraft Limited (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Other Matter

The comparative consolidated statements of financial position of the Group and statements of
financial position of the Company as of January 1, 2o2t has not been audited.

Responsibilities of Directors for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Indep endent Auditor' s Rep ort
To the Board of Directors of Cirrus Aircraft Limited (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents ofthis report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
r Identifu and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modfi our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Indep endent Auditor's Rep ort
To the Board of Directors of Cirrus Aircraft Limited (Continued)
(incorporated in the Ca)'rnan Islands with limited liability)

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identifu during our audit.

Restriction on Distribution and Use

The consolidated financial statements are prepared for the purpose of the preparation of
financial information for inclusion in the prospectus of the Company in connection with the
initial public offering of shares of the Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. As a result, the consolidated financial statements may not be suitable for
another purpose. Our report is intended solely for the board of directors of the Company and
should not be distributed to or used by any other parties for any purpose.

Certified Public

HongKong, JtnezS,zoz4
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CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT ORLOSS

FORTHEYEARS ENDED DECEMBER gl.r2ozr,2o22 AND 2o2g

Year ended December 3t,
2021 2022

US$'ooo USg'ooo
2O23

US$'ooo

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Selling and marketing expenses
General and administrative expenses

Operating profit before other income
Other income, net

Operatingprofit

Finance costs

Profitbefore income tax
Income tax expenses

Profitfortheyear

5
6

Note

11

738,t30
(+qs,Bss)

242,275

(66,39r)
(gg,66t)

Bz,zzg
7,486

89,7o9

(g,sog)

86,zoo
(ts,zgz)

B94,o8z
(sgs,9sz)

z98,13o

(88,29o)
(toz,486)

to7,354
4,779

112,133

(3,r99)

ro8,934
(2o,858)

88,o76

o.57

t,o67r7o8
(7o3,o16)

364,692

(to6,766)
(45,r84)

L22,742
7,372

t24,tL4

(s,sz9)

rr8,585
(zr,44z)

6
6

7

9

10

72,4o3

o.47

9L,L43

o.59

Earnings per share
Basic and diluted (expressed in USg per
share)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER Bl.,, z.o2t,2o22 AND 2o2B

Year ended December 3t,
202L 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo

Profit for the year 72,403 88,o76

Other comprehensive gain/(loss) :

Items that maA be subsequentlA reclassified to
profit or loss:

Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income, net
oftax 24 (z)

Other comprehensive gain/(loss) for the
year, net oftax

Total comprehensive income for the year 72,427 88,o74

2023
US$'ooo

9r,L43

1

24 1

9I,r44
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CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS OF DECEMBER St"-2o2l^,2o22 AND 2o2B

Note

As of
January 1,

2c)21

US$'ooo

86,682
24,o65

23L,52L

L15,923

ttz,748
t2,783

225,'Ot
tts,923

t6t,784
t6,750

23L,32O

tLs,923

2r5
4,559

2L

L52

2o23
US$'ooo

r97,933
t2,949

245,r73
tts,923

47r
8,832

As of December 3r,
2021 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant, and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Goodwill
Financial assets at fair value

through other comprehensive
income

Advances to suppliers
Notes receivables
Contract assets

Total non-current assets

Current assets
Inventories
Reinsurance recoverable
Advances to suppliers
Contract assets

Notes and other receivables and
prepayments

Accounts receivables
Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

4c,6

,939
100

109

4

13

24
14

L4

15

77

t9
0n

18

L7

tn

19

19

16

20

l12

257

,823
6z

145

2

463,745 47O,242 53o,724 581,393

72,947
tz,64z
6,o47
I,O24

529
3,496

2,228
t56,766

roo,7o8
r9,528
6,524
1,989

r,388

4,oL7

L,145

181,981

tt3,ot7
42,2tt
5,32L

203

8,Ls4

b,896

r,ol7
243,254

tg+,s66
2L,417
rz,t88

2L5

2,270

7,399

r,6r8
246,869

255,679 316,68o 4L9,Or3 426,542

719,424 786,922 949,737 t,oo7,g35



CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
AS OF DECEMBER Bt,2o2l^,2o22 AND 2o2B

Note

As of
January 1,

2021
US$'ooo

155,482
(r13,482)

9
tB6,zzz

7L,673
t6,286
20,L73
3,754

30,951

t55,482
(r13,4Bz)

4
258,654

r55,482
(rrf,,48z)

3
346,729

2023
US$'ooo

t55,482
(r13,482)

431,372

55,949
t2,o7o
t5,t6o
7,363

57,O47

As of December 3r,
202L 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo

Equity andliabilities
Equity
Share capital
Capital reserve
Financial assets at fair value

through other comprehensive
income ("FVOCI") fair value
reserve

Retained earnings

Total equity

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
l,ease liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Accrued warranty
Contract liabilities
Deferred government grant

income

Total non-current liabilities

zz8,zgt 3oo,658 388,732 479'376

2L

21

2l

23
24
z8
25
tn

4

56,313
tt,764

24,838
4,O43
4t,t55

6T,6so
1]^,92O

t7,Lso
4,905
45,97r

59

14z,896 r38,rr3 L47,596 L47,589
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CIRRT's AINCNAFT IIMIIID

GOI{ISDLIDATE) STIATEIf,EX|ITSI OF FII{IAr{CIAL PT(XIIaTON (OONrrNrrItr)
AS OFDBCBIUBH,g6 rou, tozcAt{D lotg

Ar of
Janua4l r,

2or2l
US$'ooo

29,T|9

s4Agl
2,1431

zgi756
89,6s9

Ar of Deccurber3r,
z(}2jl 2@tL

IIS$'ooo USfrooo
20/23

usfoo

C\rrcnt liebitrticc
Accounts pa1'ablee

Employee wages anil benefttr
payable

Accrued liabilities
Conbast liabilities
Customer deposits
Deferred gorarnment grant

income
Interest payable
Incometupayable
Accrueil warranty
Accnrd.proitudliabffi
Borrowings
Lease [abilities

Note

22

u2
22
27
22

22

25
26
23
24

4r,6$ 4S,tZg 42Azg

4r,y76zW
395?8

r45P.o,4

4,cn
149o8
39,546
165;1os

6o^sgo
1(),O3g

45'4L
r49*'66

,",
8,54r

205[f4
35325
uBor
2'95o

386,970

534,559

1,O()%935

-

21(,

\644
t4s66
5tl,57
8'o44
6ezz

413/4o9

S6rrooS

vlg:137

-

59
68

Eg79
A,oo4
33Ay
r5"g6o
2,64t

s48J51
:

q86eA+

T86,yzz

979
170

1,871
1op29
27,O35

rzg1619

5,86o

348,zg?
:

49rr93

7r9424

-

Tobl surrcnt liabilltlec

Toullirbilftice

Total eqtdv and liebiliticc

Nctcnnerrt
(liabilitieg)/atgcb (92,618) GUn) 5,604 g9,gf2

Tbe conrclidatcdEDaDcialsbtemente onpages gtoTowereapprovedbythe Bmlilof Dircdors on&mez8'

zoa4 anilwere onitsbe.hatr

. Zean HofimeisterVans NIEISEN
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CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
AS OF DECEMBER gt, 2o27., 2022 AND 2023

Note

As of
January 1,

2021
US$'ooo

L55,482

54,518

L55,482

54,518

L55,482
54,518

2023
US$'ooo

t55,4Bz

54,518

499

2to,499

L,272

L,272

L,272

2tt,77r

As of December 3r,
2021 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo

Assets
Non-current asset
Investment in a subsidiary

Total non-current asset

Current assets

Prepayment

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

Equity andliabilities
Equiry
Share capital (*)
Capital reserve

Retained earnings

2L 21O,OOO 21O,OOO 21O,OOO 21O,OOO

21O,OOO 210,OOO 210,OOO 21O,OOO

20

L,771

210,OOO 210,OOO 210,OOO 2rl,77L

t,267

504

2L

21

Total equity 21O,OOO 21O,OOO 21O,OOO

Liabilities
Current liability
Amount due to a subsidiary

Total current liability

Total liability

Total equity and liabilities 21O,OOO 21O,OOO 21O,OOO

(") The amounts of share capital as of January r,2o2L is less than US$ r,ooo
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CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

coNsoLrDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES rN EQUTTY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER Bt, 2ozt,2o22 AND 2o2B

Share
capital

(Note zr)
US$'ooo

Capital
reserve

(Note zr)
US$'ooo

Financial
assets at

fair value
through

other
comprehe

nsive
income

fair value
reserve

(Note zr)
US$'ooo

Retained
earnings
US$'ooo

Total
US$'ooo

Balance as ofJanuary t, zozt

Profit for the year

Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value

through other comprehensive income, net of tax

Total comprehensive income/(loss)

Balance as of December 3t, zozt

Balance as ofJanuary 1, 2022

Profit for the year

Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value

through other comprehensive income, net oftax

Total comprehensive income/Qoss)

Balance as of December ZL, 2c22

Balance as ofJanuary 1, 2023

Profit for the year

Fair ralue gain on financial assets at fair value

through other comprehensive income, net of tax

Total comprehensive income

Dividends paid

Balance as of December 3r, zoz3

Lss,482 (rrg,+82)

155,482 (rrg,48z)

$5,482 (ng,+82)

tg5,48z (rrg,48z)

S 346,729 388,n2

9r,r43 91,r43

9 L86,222 228,zSL

72,403 72,403

2429(s)

72,427

::::::::-
3oo,658

72,432
-_:::::::-
258,654

(s)

4(rrg,48z)155,482

4 zS8,6S4

88,o76

(r)

3oo,658

BB,oZ6

(z)(r)

(ng,4Bz)ttt.*

88,o74

::::::::::
zSB,zsz

88,ozs

:::::::=:
346,729

(r)

3

1

1 9r,r43
(6,Soo)

9\r44
(6,soo)

11

4 4gr,S72 473876



CIRT.US AIRCRAFT LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLO\MS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEI/IBER 3.t, z.o2t,2o22 AND 2o2B

Note

Year ended December 3t,
202L 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo
2023

US$'ooo

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year

Adjustments for:
Income tax expenses
Finance costs
Depreciation on property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation on right-of-use assets
Amortization of intangible assets
(Gain)/loss on financial assets at FVPL
Government grants

Changes in working capital:
Increase in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in accounts, notes and
other receivables and reinsurance
recoverable

(Increase)/decrease in contract assets
Decrease/(increase) in advances to
suppliers

Increase in contract liabilities
Increase/(decrease) in customer deposits
Increase in employee benefit payable
Increase/(decrease) in accounts and other
payables

Cash generated from operations
Interest paid
Tax paid

Net cash generated from operating
activities

72,4o3 BB,o76

L3,797
3,5o9

L8,248
2,5o7

14,42L
(+tr)
bzg)

t23,495

(27,76r)

(8,zzB)
(r,og7)

1,639

28,oot
6rB4s
7,479

L9,32o

2O4,253
(3,6rr)
(z,s6s)

2o,858
3,r99

9t,r43

27,442
5,529

16,857
4,068
$,650
(sso)

r6o,139

(23,918)

26,847
28

(rr,14o)

r6,77r
(ts,6gg)

L2rL'L

L'L,443
(s,6rz)

(gz,sgs)

Lt3,29l

13,596
3,995

15,866
474
(sq)

r45,945

(r8,g6S)

(3r,zz7)
r,779

(sss)

2,346
19lgol
6,4o3

16r,o98
(3,osz)

(z5,r8z)

34,849 (rs,zg6)

t98,277 42,859
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CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOIVS (CONIINTJED)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER gt, 2ozt ,2<122 AND 2o2g

Year ended December 3t,
202L 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo
2023

US$'ooo

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of financial assets
Proceeds from sale offinancial assets
Payment for property, plant and equipment
Payment for intangible assets

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings
RePayrnent of borrowings
Principal elements of lease payments
Dividends paid

Payment for listing expenses

Net cash (used in)/generated from
financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

the year

Cash and cash equivalents at ending ofthe
year

(+z,stg) (Zr,o33) (go,6S7)

Note

20

3o
3o
3o

Gzz)
z,t6g

(+o,Ts6)
(B,4or)

(rzg,619)
(z,sz+)

egz)
151

(49,roz)
(zr,68S)

75,OOO
(zo,gzg)

(g,gz+)

(+z+)
uB

(6o,8zB)
(z9,so3)

(8,o++)
(g,6zg)
(6,Soo)

(866)

(19,o39)

3,615

243,254

246,869

(tz6,t4g)

z4,6tg

t96766 rBr,3Br

rBr,3Br 243,254

47

6t,873
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CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 General information, reorganization and basis of presentation

1.1 General information

Cirrus Aircraft Limited (the "Company") was incorporated on December 13, 2019 as an exempted
company in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Act, Cap zz (Law 3 of 196r) of the Cayman
Islands with limited liability. The address of its registered office is Maples Corporate Services
Limited, PO Box 3o9, Ugland House Grand Cayman, I(Y1-11o4, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries (together "the Group") are
principally engaged in manufacturing and sales of piston aircraft ("SRzX Series") and single-engine
turbine jet ('Vision Jet"), sales of services through Cirrus Services, including aviation parts,
extended warranty contracts, maintenance operations, and training services ("Listing Business").

The Company's ultimate holding company is Aviation Industry Corporation of China Ltd. ("AVIC"),
a company incorporated in the People Republic of China ("the PRC").

These consolidated financial statements is presented in United State Dollar ("US$") unless
otherwise stated.

1.2 Reorganization

Immediately prior to the Reorganization and during the Track Record Period, the Listing
was operated by CAIGA Co. Ltd. ("CAIGA Co."), a company incorporated in The United
America, and its subsidiaries (together, the "Operating Companies").

Business
States of

In preparation for the initial public offering ("IPO") and listing (the "Listing") of the Company's
shares on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, a group reorganization
(the "Reorganization") was undertaken pursuant to which the Listing Business were transferred to
the Company. The Reorganization involved the followings steps:

(i) On December t-3, 2019, the Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands with an authorized share capital of US$5o,ooo
divided into 5o,ooo shares with par value of US$r per share. Upon its incorporation, the
Company allotted and issued one ordinary share with par value of US$r to an independent
third party which was then transferred to CAIGA (Hong Kong) Limited ("CAIGA Hong
Kong"), a wholly owned subsidiary of China Aviation Industry General Aircraft Co., Ltd.
("CAIGA") on the same date.

(ii) On January rS, 2o2o, pursuant to the share purchase agreement entered into between
CAIGA, CAIGA Hong Kong and the Company, CAIGA agreed to sell, transfer and assign its
right, title and interest in and to the roo% issued and outstanding share capital of CAIGA
Co. to the Company at a consideration of US$rS5,48r,658. The consideration is satisfiedby
the allotment and issuance of 155,48r,658 ordinary shares bythe Companyto CAIGA Hong
Kong. Upon the completion of such transfer, CAIGA Co. was wholly owned by the Company.

(iii) In December 2022) Cirrus Industries, Inc. ("Legacy Cirrus Industries") was merged with
and into CAIGA (US) Co., Ltd. ("CAIGA US"), the immediately holding company of Legacy
Cirrus Industries, and CAIGA US was further merged with and into CAIGA Co., the
immediate holding company of CAIGA US, under Delaware law. As a result, CAIGA Co.
acquired all the assets and properties of CAIGA US Co., and the Iegacy Cirrus Industries,
respectively, and assumed all of the liabilities and obligations therein. CAIGA Co. was
renamed as "Cirrus Industries, Inc.".

- 14-
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1.3

CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 General information, reorganization and basis of presentation (Continued)

Basis of presentation

Immediately prior to and after the Reorganization, the Listing Business was primarily conducted
through the Operating Companies. Pursuant to the Reorganization, the Listing Business were
transferred to and held by the Company. The Company has not been involved in any other business
prior to the Reorganization and does not meet the definition of a business. The Reorganization is
merely a recapitalization of the Listing Business with no change in management and the ultimate
owners of the Listing Business remain the same.

Accordingly, the Group resulting from the Reorganization is regarded as a continuation of the
Listing Business under the Operating Companies. For the purpose of this report, the consolidated
financial statements has been prepared and presented as a continuation of the consolidated
financial statements of the Operating Companies, with the assets and liabilities of the Group
recognized and measured at the carrying amounts of the Listing Business for all periods presented.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains/losses on transactions between group
companies are eliminated on combination.

2 Material accounting policy inforrnation

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

2.1. Basis of preparation

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
which are in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards ("IFRSs") issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") are set out below. The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss which are
carried at fair value.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the use

of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the
process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

-17-
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CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEIVIENTS

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

AII relevant standards, amendments to the existing standards and interpretations that are effective
during the Track Record Period have been adopted by the Group consistently throughout the Track
Record Period.

Amendments to standards that haue been issued but are not effectiue and haue not been earla
adoptedbA the Group:

The following amendments to standards have been issued but are not effective during the Track
Record Period, and have notbeen early adoptedbythe Group:

Effective for
annual periods

beginning
on or after

2.1.

Amendments to IAS r

Amendments to IAS r
Amendment to IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 7
Amendments to IAS zr
Amendments to IFRS ro and IAS zB

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
Leases on Sale and Leaseback
Supplier Finance Arrangements
Lack of Exchangeability
Sale or Contribution of Assets between

an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

January \2o24

January t,2o24
January 1,2o.24
January L,2o24
January 1,,2o25

To be
determined

The Group plans to adopt the above amendments to standards when they become effective.
According to the preliminary assessment made by the directors of the Company, these amendments
to standards are either not relevant to the Group or not significant to the financial performance and
positions of the Group when theybecome effective.

2.2 Principles of consolidation

(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

-18-
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CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation (Continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

Except for the reorganization, the Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is
the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former shareholders
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

2.5 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving dividends from
these investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee's
net assets including goodwill.

2,4 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functionalandpresentationcurrency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates ('the
functional currency'). The consolidated financial statements are presented in US$, which
is the Company's functional and the Group's presentation currency.

(b) Transactionsandbalances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-
measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in profit or loss.

2.5 Propert5r, plant and equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the property, plant, and
equipment and borrowing costs for long-term construction projects if the recognition criteria are
met. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group depreciates them separately based on their specific useful lives. Likewise, when
a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in the carrying amount of the property, plant
and equipment if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are
recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

-19-
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CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated on the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:

Asset
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Office equipment
Aircraft and vehicles

Usefullife
Shorter of lease terms or 15 - 40 years

3 - 10 years

3 - 10 years

5 - 10 years

An item of property, plant, and equipment and any significant part initially recognized is
derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition ofthe asset (calculated as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in other income in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss when the asset is derecognized.

Plant and equipment as right-of-use assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease term or estimated useful life of the asset.

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant, and equipment are
reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These
are included in profit or loss.

Construction-in-progress represents property, plant and equipment under construction and
pending installation and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Cost includes
the cost of construction of buildings, the cost of plant and machinery and interest charges arising
from borrowings used to finance these assets during the period of construction or installation and
testing, if any. No provision for depreciation is made on construction in progress until such time as
the relevant assets are completed and are available for intended use. When the assets concerned are
brought into use, the costs are transferred to property, plant and equipment and depreciated in
accordance with the poliry as stated above.

2,6 Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful life

Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price (consideration transferred) over the estimated fair value
of net assets of acquired businesses. In accordance with IFRS, goodwill is not amortized. The Group
assesses whether there has been an impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful life annually or whenever an event occurs, or circumstances change that would indicate the
carrying amount may be impaired. Impairment testing for goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite useful life is done at each of the cash generating units (CGUs) or groups of CGUs. Each
unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at
not higher than operating segment level. The carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is
compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs
of disposal. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of the cash generating
unit's net assets exceeds the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit. The test for
impairment requires the Group to make several estimates about the recoverable amount, most of
which are based on projected future cash flows. Any impairment is recognized immediately as an
expense. The results of the annual impairment test are discussed in Note 14.

-20-



CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEIVIENTS

.t Material accounting policy information (Continued)

2.7 Intangible assets

(a) Trademark

Trademark acquired in a business combination is recognized at fair value at the acquisition
date. The trademark has an indefinite useful life, as the economic benefits are expected to
contribute to the Company's cash flows indefinitd, and carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Impairment assessment is undertaken annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment.

(b) Customer relationships

Contractual customer relationship acquired in a business combination is recognized at lair
value at the acquisition date. The contractual customer relationship has a finite useful life
and is subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is
calculated using the straightJine method over the expected life of the customer relationship
of seven years, which is the estimated period that these relationships will bring economic
benefit.

(c) Aircraft type certificates

Aircraft type certificates represents the certificates and development efforts for the aircraft
acquired in a business combination or developed internally and is recognized at fair value
at the acquisition date. The aircraft type certificates have finite useful lives and are
subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortization. The Company selects units of
production method for amortizing the aircraft type certificates. The total units selected for
amortization is based on production estimates not to exceed 25 years.

(d) Internally developed intangible assets

The Group incurs significant costs and effort on research and development activities, which
include expenditures on prototytrles and testing. Research expenditures are charged to the
consolidated statements of profit or loss as an expense in the period the expenditure is
incurred. Development costs are recognized as assets if they can be clearly assigned to a
newly developed product or process and all the following can be demonstrated:

The technical feasibility to complete the development project so that it will be
available for use or sale;
The intention to complete the development project to use it;
The ability to use the output of the development project;
The manner-in-which the development project will generate probable future
economic benefits for the Group;
The availability of adequate technical, financial, and other resources to complete
the development project and use or sell the intangible asset; and
The expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be reliably
measured.

The cost of an internally generated intangible asset is the sum ofthe expenditure incurred
from the date the asset meets the recognition criteria above to the date when it is available
for use or sale. The costs capitalized in connection with the intangible asset include costs of
materials and services used or consumed and employee costs incurred in the creation of the
asset. Development expenditures not satisffing the above criteria are recognized in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss as incurred.

a

a

a

a

a

a
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CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEIIENTS

t Material accounting policy inforrnation (Continued)

2.7 Intangible assets (Continued)

(d) Internally developed intangible assets (Continued)

Capitalized development costs are amortized using a units-delivered method over the
expected total unit of production of the related production program or useful life if the life
is deemed to be finite. The expected total unit of production can vary depending on whether
the programs are for the initial type certificate of an aircraft or are for internally developed
intangible assets to an existing aircraft. Internally generated intangible assets are amortized
based on production estimates ranging between 3 to to years.

2.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the
Group estimates the asset's recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset's fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
ofthose from other assets or groups of assets.

When the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risk specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions
are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is
used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly
traded companies or other available fair value indicators.

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations. These
budgets and forecast calculations generally cover a period of five years, unless longer is justified.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether
there is an indication that previously recognized impairment losses no longer exist or have
decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset's recoverable amount. A
previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the
assumptions used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment was
recognized. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its
recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years.

2.9 Financial assets

z.g.a Financial assets at fair value

Equrty securities and mutual funds are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss ("FVPLAssets"). FVPLAssets are measured and recorded at fairvalue and any unrealized gains
or losses are recognized in current year profit and loss. Management uses current market quotations,
where available, to estimate the fair value of these securities. Realized gains and losses from the sale
of FVPL Assets are determined on a specific-identification basis.

FVPL Assets are recorded at fair value when acquired, including any directly attributable
transaction costs.

-22-
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2.9.4

CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

NOTES TO THB CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value (Continued)

Debt securities are classified as financial assets at fair value through other comprehenslve lncome
(FVOCI Assets). FVOCI Assets are measured and recorded at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses
generated from FVOCI Assets (net of tax) are reported as a separate component of the accumulated
other comprehensive income until realized. Management uses current market quotations, where
available, to estimate the fair value of these securities.

When an investment is sold, the gain or loss accumulated in other comprehensive income is
recognized within realized gains or losses within current year profit and loss.

Premiums and discounts are amortized or accreted over the expected life of the related FVOCI
Assets as an adjustment to yield, using the effective-interest method. Such amortization and
accretion are included in the investment gain line item in the consolidated statements of profit or
loss. Interest income is recognized when earned and included in the investment gain line item in
the consolidated statements of profit or loss.

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its FVOCI
Assets. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

2.9.2 Financial assets - impairment

The Group has following financial assets subject to the expected credit loss model with IFRS 9

1. Accountsreceivables;
z. Notes and other receivables (excluding insurance receivables);

3. Financial assets at FVOCI;

4. Cash and cash equivalents.

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments. The impairment methodolog' applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For accounts receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognized since initial recognition.

Impairment on note and other receivables (excluding insurance receivables) is measured as either
rz-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses, depending on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit
risk of a deposit or receivable has occurred since initial recognition, the impairment is measured as

lifetime expected credit losses.

2.to Leases

Leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the
leased asset is available for use by the group. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability
and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter ofthe asset's useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

-23-
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CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEiVIENTS

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. l,ease
liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:

' fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable
' variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate
' amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees
' the exercise price of a purchase option ifthe lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option,

and
' payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising

that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the lessee's incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar
economic environment with similar terms and conditions.

To determine the implied incremental borrowing rate, the Group

where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received
uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for
leases held by the Group and
makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country, currency and security

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

' the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability
' any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received
' anyinitial direct costs, and
' restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease
term on a straight-line basis. Ifthe Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset's useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value
assets are recognized on a straightJine basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of rz months or less. Low-value assets comprise of one-time trade show and
miscellaneous equipment rental.

Extension, purchase and termination options are included in a number of property and equipment
leases across the Group. These are used to maximize operational flexibility in terms of managing
the assets used in the Group's operations. The majority of extension, purchase and termination
options held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective lessor.

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension
options (or periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is
reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated).
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CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMMED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

2.'r1, Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition are accounted for as
follows:

Raw materials: standard cost
Preflown aircraft and merchandise: purchase cost on a first-in, first-out basis
Finished goods and work in process: cost of direct materials and labor and a portion of
manufacturing overhead based on normal operating capacity

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. The cost of inventories is
written down to their estimated realizable value when their cost may no longer be recoverable, such
as when inventories are damaged or become wholly or partly obsolete or their selling prices have
declined. The realizable value represents the best estimate of the recoverable amount, is based on
the most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, and inherently involves estimates
regarding the future expected realizable value. In general, such an evaluation process requires
significant judgment and may materially affect the carrying amount of inventories at the reporting
date.

Provisions for excess and obsolete inventories are made through an examination of historical
component consumption, current market demands and shifting production demands. Significant
assumptions with respect to market trends, customer product acceptance and seryice warranty
demands are utilized to formulate the Group's provision methods. Sudden downward changes in
the Group's product markets may cause the Group to recognize additional inventory charges in
future periods.

All Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) certification and preproduction costs are charged to
profit or loss as incurred, except for costs associated with new aircraft models in the development
stages, which are capitalized.

2.L2 Accounts receivables

Accounts receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed
in the ordinary course ofbusiness. If collection of accounts receivables is expected in one year or
less, they are classified as current assets. Otherwise, they are presented as non-current assets.

Accounts receivables are recognized initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional
unless they contain significant financing components, when they are recognized at fair value. The
Group holds the accounts receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method. See
Note 3.r for further information about the Group's impairment policies.

2.18 Cash and cash equivalents

The Group considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less
to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are carried at cost, which approximates market value. The
Group has a policy of dealing only with highly rated financial institutions. Generally, these balances
may be redeemed upon demand and, therefore, bear minimal risk. Certificates of deposit are
considered cash and cash equivalents based on their nature and original maturity of three months
or less based on our policy above.
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CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEIVIENTS

t Material accounting policy information (Continued)

2.L4 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net oftax, from the proceeds.

2.rS Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle or defend the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under
an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset, but only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss, net of any reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted to present values using
a current pre-tax rate that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When
discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a
finance cost.

z,16 Contingentliability

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not
wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognized because it is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required,
or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognized but is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it
will then be recognized as a provision.

2.a7 Accrued product liability

The Group is subject to product liability claims in the normal course of business. The Group
purchases insurance policies to protect against losses related to product liability claims, hull losses
for aircraft in the corporate owned fleet, excess general liability, and other physical damage. These
policies carry various coverage limits and cover losses and fees for litigation and defense on product
liability.

The Group retains self-insured exposure for product liability losses and defense costs up to
maximum per occurrence and aggregate limits on the entire product liability policy.

The Group estimates product liability reserves by reviewing loss estimates of its lead underwriter
as a basis to determine loss exposure for the Group related to its self-insured retentions. The lead
underwriter determines estimated total loss exposure by examining field-related incidents;
establishing an estimate of potential liability exposure based on the facts of the incident and
possible theories of liability, jurisdiction, and other factors; and determining legal and other fees
that may be incurred. This estimate of overall loss exposure for all cases is updated at least annually,
in conjunction with third-party estimates, Slving consideration for new developments in each case.
Once the aggregate insurance loss exposure has been determined for any policy year, the Group
recognizes its loss exposure if it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the
loss is reasonably estimable. The Group then calculates its total loss exposure consistent with its
applicable retention for the policy year. The Group's loss reserve may be adjusted from time to time
based on adjustments in the insurance company reserves.
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2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

2.18 Reinsurance recoverable

The Group carries product liability insurance as stated in Note z.t7 and the Group reinsured those
amounts that are beyond the amounts stated above. As such the Group carries a reinsurance
recoverable for product liability that exceeds the aggregate exposure amounts stated above, which
are covered by third par[y insurers. The reinsurance recoverable is determined to be virtually
certain and recognized as a current asset.

2.ag Accounts payables

Accounts payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the
ordinary course ofbusiness from suppliers.

Accounts payables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method.

z.2o Current and deferred income taxes

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognized in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss, except if it arises from transactions or events that are
recognized in other comprehensive income/(loss) or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is
recognized in other comprehensive income/(loss) or directly in equity, respectively.

(a) Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current year are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rate and tax laws
used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.

(b) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes at the reporting date. I

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except:

When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transactions, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss
In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint arrangements, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will be controlled, and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future

a
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Current and deferred incorne taxes (Continued)

(b) Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized, except:

When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss
In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, associates and interests injoint arrangements, deferred tax assets are
recognized only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilized

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part ofthe deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are
reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become
probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply
in the year when the asset is realized, or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to offset
current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the
same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

2.zt Revenuerecognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sales of goods
and services in the ordinary course of the Group's activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added
tax, returns and discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group.

Transaction sale prices are allocated to performance obligations on the proportional basis of the
standalone selling prices of the related performance obligations. The standalone selling price is the
price at which an entity would sell a promised good or service separately to a customer.
Management assesses these standalone selling prices at least on an annual basis and adjusts
accordingly to keep prices competitive in the current market. Any discounts given are allocated to
the deliverables on the same basis as above and recognized to revenue over the life of the applicable
performance obligations.

(a) Sale of Goods - Aircraft Reuenue

Revenue is recognized upon customer acceptance and delivery of the aircraft. Revenue from
the sale of aircraft is measured at fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net
of discounts. The aircraft sale price, net of deposits received and any notes receivable, must
be paid on or before the date the aircraft is delivered. The deposit is recognized as a liability
until the aircraft is delivered.
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Revenue recognition (Continued)

(b) SaIe of Goods - Cirrus Seruices and Other

Cirrus Services and Other, include but are not limited to after market parts, service sales,
warranty sales, training sales and revenue from a related party.

Parts can be purchased through the website (Cirrus Direct), from or at participating
company owned service centers or authorized service centers. Risk ofloss is transferred to
the customer upon shipment and/or receipt at a participating location. The revenue is
recognized upon shipment and/or receipt at a participating location. Revenue from services
sales and training sales is recognized when the relevant services or trainings are provided.
Revenue from warranty sales and maintenance is discussed below. Revenue is measured at
fairvalue ofthe consideration received, net ofreturns and allowances, trade discounts and
volume rebates.

Revenue from a related parly was primarily for a one-off development project and was
recognized as services were rendered. This is determined based on the actual costs spent
relative to the total expected costs. Estimates of revenues, total expected costs or extent of
progress toward completion are revised if circumstances change. Any resulting increases or
decreases in estimated revenues or costs are reflected in profit orloss in the period in which
the circumstances that give rise to the revision become known by management.

i. Extendedtuarranty

The Group provides normal warranty provisions for z-3 years on aircraft sold. A
warranty liability is recognized at the time the product is sold.

The Group currently accepts the risk of three year and up to five-year warranties as
extended warranties. To alleviate the associated risks, the suppliers of avionics and
engines offer extended warranties to cover years three through five for purchase by
the Group. Revenue from the sale of extended warranty contracts is deferred and
amortized over the term into income on a straightline basis in the year the warranty
contract becomes applicable and is included in Sales of Goods - Cirrus Sen'ices and
Other above. Any receipts from sales of extended warranties are recognized as
deferred revenue and recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis during years three
to five of the warranty period, based on the length of the warranty period purchased.
Related costs are expensed as incurred, including any extended warranty purchased
from suppliers.

ii. Maintenance

Revenue from the sale of maintenance coverage contracts is deferred and amortized
into Sale of Goods - Cirrus Services and Other as each maintenance event occurs over
the contract period.

2.zz Contract liabilities

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group presents the contract in the statement of
financial position as contract assets or contract liabilities, depending on the relationship between
the Group's per{ormance and the customer's payment. Contract liabilities are the Group's
obligation to transfer services to its customer for which the Group has received consideration from
the customer.
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2.25 Accrued warranty costs

The Group warrants that the aircraft airframe will be free of material and workmanship defects
under normal use and service for a period of z4 months or 1,ooo flight hours, whichever occurs first
on the Vision Jet and a period of 36 months or 1,ooo flight hours, whichever occurs first on SR2X
Series aircraft. The warranty is not sold separately and therefore does not provide an additional
service to the customer. The Group estimates the accrual for warranty costs based upon historical
warranty experience and recognizes this cost at the time of sale. Suppliers of avionics and engines
provide standard two-year warranties to the Group and customer.

The Group also recognizes the estimated expenses and related liabilities of service bulletins issued
during the reporting periods. Factors that affect the Group's warranty liability include the number
of units, historical and anticipated rates of warranty claims, and cost per claim. The Group
periodically assesses the adequacy of its warranty liabilities and adjusts the amounts as necessary.

2.24 Employee benefit costs

Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by an entity in exchange for service rendered
by employees or for the termination of employment. Aliability is recognized when an employee has
provided services in exchange for employee benefits to be paid in the future; and an expense when
the entity consumes the economic benefit arising from service provided by an employee in exchange
for employee benefits. Employee benefits that are expected to be settled wholly within twelve
months after the end of the reporting period are presented as current liabilities.

2.25 Government grants

Government grants are recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received, and all attached conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to expense items,
it is recognized as other income on a systematic basis over the periods that the related costs, for
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed. When the grant relates to an asset, it reduces the
asset's cost resulting in lower depreciation expenses over the expected useful life of the related
assets.

2.26 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortized cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss over
the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as transaction costs of the loan to
the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalized as a pre-payment for liquidity
services and amortized over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least rz months after the end of the reporting period.
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2.27 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualiffing assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost ofthose assets, until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualiffing assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.

2.28 Dividends distribution

Dividends distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognized as a liability in the Group's
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company's
shareholders or directors until subsequent payment to the shareholders, where appropriate.

B Financial risk management

8.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's financial liabilities mainly comprise borrowings, account and other payables and lease
liabilities. The main purpose of the financial liabilities is to finance the Group's operations. The
Group's financial assets include financial assets at fair value, account and other receivables, and
cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits derived directly from its operations.

In performing its operating, investing, and financing activities, the Group is exposed to the
following financial risks:

Liquidity risk: The risk that the Group may not have, or may not be able to raise, cash funds
when needed and therefore may encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities.

Market risk: The risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate in terms of fair value
or future cash flows as a result of a fluctuation in market prices. The Group is exposed to interest
rate risk for its financial instruments. Financial instruments affected by market risk include
borrowings, notes and other receivables. The Group assesses the exposure to market risk before
making investment decisions and monitors the overall level of market risk on a daily basis.
Management frequently monitors interest rates and does not anticipate any material losses as a
result of interest rate risk.

Price risk: The risk that relates to changes in the price of materials purchased for production.
The Group manages this risk primarily by negotiating pricing agreements with significant
suppliers, competitive bidding and identifying opportunities for cost reductions. Based on our
current outlook for commodity prices, the total impact of commodities is expected to have a
nominal impact on our gross margins for zoz4 when compared to zoz3.

In order to effectively manage those risks, the Board of Directors has approved specific strategies
for the management of financial risks, which are in line with corporate objectives. These guidelines
set up the short- and long-term objectives and action to be taken in order to manage the financial
risks that the Group faces.

a

a
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Financial risk factors (Continued)

The following table summarizes the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities by
category:

3.1

As of
January 1,

2021
US$'ooo

629

3,496

t56,766

21228

t63,525

r95,292
29,773
83,859

L70
zz,t46

331,240

L|LOT

4,oL7

rBr,3Br

7r,673
4t,65t

L45,2O4
68

L4,405

273,OOL

6,4t2

5,836

243,254

2o23
US$'ooo

720

7,399

246,869

As of December 3r,
2021 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo

Financial assets
Financial assets at
amortized cost

Notes and other receivables
(excluding insurance
receivables)

Accounts receivables, net of
allowances for credit losses

Cash and cash equivalents

Financial assets at FVOCI
Financial assets at FVOCI

Financial assets at FVPL
Financial assets at FVPL

Financial liabilities
Liabilities at amortized cost
Borrowings
Accounts payables
Customer deposits
Interest payable
Lease liabilities

406 257 2r5 47r

L1145 LrOLT r,6rB

tB7,9o7 256,734 257,O77

75,694
45,O78

r65,ro5
2LO

LB'39z

6T,7so
42,428

r49,466
t2r

15,O2O

3o4,479 274,785

Credit risk:
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument
or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its
operating activities (primarily accounts receivables). The Group has adopted a policy of dealing only
with highly rated financial institutions. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk.
Receivables that are past due at the repofting date are impaired as appropriate.

To manage risk arising from cash and cash equivalents, the Group places deposits in reputable
banks. There has been no recent history of default in relation to these financial institutions. The
identified credit losses of the Group are effectively close to zero.
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3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk : (Continue d)

For a majority of the Group's revenue, including sales of aircraft, extended warranty and
maintenance, as part of the Group's credit control policy, considerations are generally fully paid
before the goods are delivered or services are rendered. The Group is therefore not exposed to credit
risk for these revenue transactions. For the accounts receivable arising from the remaining revenue
transactions, there was no history of material default. The Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognized from initial
recognition of the assets on a collective basis based on shared credit risk characteristics. For
accounts receivables that are not long aged or relating to customers that are likely to be collectible,
the provision matrix is determined based on historically observed default rates with similar credit
risk characteristics and is adjusted for forward-looking factors. The historical observed default rates
are updated based on the payment profiles of receivables over a period of rz months, and changes
in the forward-looking estimates are analyzed at year end. On this basis, the expected loss rates and
allowance provided on a collective basis are insignificant.

For accounts receivables that are relating to customers that are less likely to be collectible, they are
assessed individually for allowance for credit losses. As of Janu ary L, zo2r, December 3'1 ,2cl21,2cl22
and zoz3, a provision of US$3o4,ooo, USgrgr,ooo, US$9o9,ooo and US$z,35g,ooo was included
in the accounts receivables over which approximately USgr87,ooo, USggog,ooo and
US$z,g4g,ooo was provision on an individual basis.

Most of the Group's notes and other receivables (excluding insurance receivables) are collateralized.
Financial assets at FVOCI mainly include highly-rated debt securities; therefore, there is limited
exposure to credit risk. Accordingly, credit risk in relations to notes and other receivables and
financial assets at FVOCI is effectively close to zero.

Liquiditg risk -financial liabilities maturity analysis:
The Group manages liquidity risk based on expected maturity dates. The Group's objective is to
maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank overdrafts,
borrowings and long-term leases.

The following tables analyze financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturity (contractual and
undiscounted cash flows) :

As ofJanuary r,2o2L

Within one year
Greater than one year and less than
three years

Greater than three years and less than
five years

More than five years

Balance as ofJanuary t,2ozr

Borrowings
US$'ooo

tz3,6t9

67,7o9

1,o43
2,921

Interest on
borrowings

US$'ooo

Payables
and

customer
deposits

US$'ooo

Lease
liabilities
US$'ooo

7,223

t2,L32

r,6Bo
9,746

z38t ttg,6gz

z,t4B

235
269

33
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Financial risk management (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)3.1

As of December 31, 2021

Within one year
Greater than one year and less than
three years

Greater than three years and less than
five years

More than five years

Balance as of December 81, 2tl21

As of Decemb et 97, 2cz2

Within oneyear
Greater than one year and less than
three years

Greater than three years and less than
five years

More than five years

Balance as of December St,2o22

As of December gl,2o2g

Within one year
Greater than one year and less than
three years

Greater than three years and less than
five years

More than five years

7L,675 2,65o- 186,855 2L,784

Borrowings
US$'ooo

15,360

52,86r

t,o78
2,374

Interest on
borrowings

US$'ooo

L,297

933

215
205

Payables
and

customer
deposits

US$'ooo

186,855

Lease
liabilities
US$'ooo

3,L64

4,266

r,946
tz,4o8

Borrowings
US$'ooo

38,513
L,794

Interest on
borrowings

US$'ooo

2,O93
270

Payables
and

customer
deposits

US$'ooo

Payables
and

customer
deposits

US$'ooo

Lease
liabilities
US$'ooo

2,824
9,830

f,ease
Iiabilities
US$'ooo

4,871

2,O15

$,655

8,o44 5,969 zro,r83 7,oLo

27,943 4,756 - 4363

75,694 rr,o82 zro,r83 24,027

Borrowings
US$'ooo

23,579

31,150
Lr22O

Interest on
borrowings

US$'ooo

3,548

767
6+

rr,Bor 2,885 t9t,894 3,389

Balance as of December 91, 2o2g 67,75o 7,264 r9r,894 23,930

Interest rate risk:
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group's exposure to the risk o{ changes
in market interest rates ielates primarily to the Group's long-term debt obligations with floating
interest rates.

-34-



3

3.1

CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial risk management (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Interest rate risk: (Continued)

The following table analyzes the breakdown of liabilities and assets by tlpe of interest rate:

As of
January t,

202L
US$'ooo

174

5,404
189,888

195,292

As of December 3r,
202L 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo
2O23

US$'ooo

Financial assets
Fixed rate

Financial liabilities
Fixed rate
Floating rate

US Dollar Libor
US Dollar Libor

Year ended December gL, zo22

US Dollar SOFR
US Dollar SOFR

Year ended December gt,2o2S

US Dollar SOFR
US Dollar SOFR

rrB 264 47r

4,938
66,7ss

4,444
7r,250

4,OOO
6J,Tso

7L,673 75,694 6T,zso

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on
that portion of borrowings affected. With all other variables held constant, the Group's profit before
tax is affected through the impact on floating rateborrowings as follows:

Year ended December gL,2o2r
Increase/(Decrease) Effect on profit before tax

in basis points (US$'ooo)

25
(zs)

r67
(t6z)

Increase/(Decrease) Effect on profit before tax
in basis points (USg'ooo)

25
(zs)

178
(tzB)

Increase/(Decrease) Effect on profit before tax
in basis points (USg'ooo)

159
($q)

25
(zs)
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Financial risk management (Continued)

Capital risk management

The Group's capital management objectives are to maintain a positive net worth and ensure its
ability to continue as a going concern. The Group manages its capital structure on the basis of
gearing ratio and adjusts it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the shareholder may
issue new shares or introduce additional paid-in capital.

The gearing ratio is calculated based on total debt (being interest-bearing borrowings) divided by
total equity of the Group. The gearing ratios in the Track Record Period were as follows:

As of
January 1,

202I
As of December 3r,

2021 2022 2o23

Gearing ratio o.9 o.2 o.2 o.1

B.B Fairvaluemeasurement

The Group measures some of its assets and liabilities at fair value at each reporting date. Fair value
is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either:

. In the principal market for the asset or liability; or
r In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in-their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset considers a market participant's ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to anoiher
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial
information are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

. Level r - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level z - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable

. Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting year.
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g Financial risk management (Continued)

B.g Fairvaluemeasiurement(Continued)

The level within which the financial asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest
level of significant input to the fair value measurement. The financial assets and liabilities measured
at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position are grouped into the fair value
hierarchy as follows:

As ofJanuary r,2o2:-
Fair value measurements using

Total

Quoted prices

in active
markets for

identical assets

(Level r)

Significant
other

observable
inputs

(Level z)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3)Description

Fixed income
Mutual funds

Description

Fixed income
Mutual funds

Description

Fixed income
Mutual funds

US$'ooo

4C,6

2,228

US$'ooo

z,zz8

US$'ooo

40,6

US$'ooo

2,634 2,228

As of December gL,2o2t
Fair value measurements using

4c,6

Quoted prices
in active

markets for
identical assets

Total (Level r)

Significant
other

observable
inputs

(Level z)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3)

US$'ooo
257

L,145

US$'ooo

t,t45

US$'ooo
257

US$'ooo

t,402 1,145

As of Decemb er gt, 2cl22
Fair Value Measurements Using

257

Total

Quoted prices
in active

markets for
identical assets

(Level r)

Significant
other

observable
inputs

(Level z)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level g)

US$'ooo
2t5

l,oL7

US$'ooo

L,OL7

US$'ooo
2r5

US$'ooo

L,232 L,OL7 2t5
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Fair value measurement (Continued)3.3

As of December 31, 2023
Fair Value Measurements Using

Total

Quoted prices

in active
markets for

identical assets
(Level r)

Significant
other

observable
inputs

(Level z)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3)Description

Fixed income
Mutual funds

US$'ooo

47r
1,618

US$'ooo US$'ooo

47r
US$'ooo

1,618

2,OBg 1,618 471

There is no transfer between levels t, z and 3 during the years ended December Bt, 2o2t, zozz and
2023.

4 Critical accounting estimates andjudgments

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of
applying the Group's accounting policies.

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations offuture events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

(a) Estirnated useful lives of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and
right-of-use assets (other than goodwill)

The Group's property, plant and equipment are depreciated based on their estimated useful
lives and estimated residual values. The Group's right-of-use assets are depreciated over
the shorter of the assets' useful lives and the lease terms on a straight-line basis.
Management has reviewed the estimated useful lives and considers they are appropriate.
This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of properLy,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of similar nature and functions. It could
change significantly as a result of technical innovations and competitor actions in response
to market conditions.

The Group's aircraft type certificate and internally developed intangible assets are
amortized based upon units produced and delivered over the expected total life of the
related asset. This is based upon management's estimates of future aircraft demand which
they believe this amortization method best reflects the pattern of benefit from these
intangible assets over their useful life.

Management will increase the depreciation and amortization charges where useful lives are
less than previously estimated and will dispose of technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned. Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful
lives. Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable lives and therefore
depreciation or amortization expense in future periods.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgments (Continued)

(b) Estimated impairment of goodwill and indefinite useful life intangible assets

(c)

The Group tests annually whether goodwill and indefinite useful life intangible assets have
suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.8. The
recoverable amounts of cash generating units have been determined based on value-in-use
calculations prepared on thebasis of management's assumptions and estimates (Note z.B).
These calculations require the use of estimates. The calculations use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. In
accordance with IAS 36, the impairment assessment was performed foryear-end reporting.

Current and deferred income taxes

(d)

The Group is subject to income taxes in the US. Significant judgment is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

For temporary differences which give rise to deferred tax assets, the Group assesses the
likelihood that the deferred income tax assets could be recovered. Deferred tax assets are
recognized based on the Group's estimates and assumptions that they will be recovered
from taxable income arising from continuing operations in the foreseeable future.

Net realizable value of inventories

Net realizable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less estimated selling expenses. These estimates aie based on the current market
condition and the historical experience of selling products of similar nature. It could change
significantly as a result of changes in customer taste and competitor actions in response to
s_evere industry cycle. Management reassesses these estimates at the end of each reporting
date.

Accrued product liability and reinsurance recoverable

The Group estimates accrued product liability by reviewing the loss estimates of its lead
products underwriter as a basis to determine loss exposure for the Group related to is self-
insured retentions. The lead underwriter determines estimated total loss exposure by
-examining_field-related accidents, establishing an estimate of potential liability exposure
based on the facts of the accident and possible theories of liability, jurisdiction, and other
factors; and the determination of legallnd other fees that may be'incurred. This estimate
of overall loss exposure for all cases is updated periodically, in conjunction with third-party
estimates, Slrting consideration for new developments in each case. Once the aggregate
insurance loss exposure has been determined for any policy year, the Group recognlzei its
loss exposure if it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss
is reasonably estimable. The Group then calculates its total loss exposure consistent with
its applicable retention for the poliry year. Such amount above the self-insured retention is
recognized as a reinsurance receivable as it is virtually certain of collection (see Note z.r8).
The Group reviews the reinsurance recoverable at each reporting period and the facts and
circumstances to the matters to ensure that the receivable remains virtually certain. If it is
determined that it is no longer virtually certain, the receivable will be derecognized and
expensed within the period that determination is reached.

Accrued warrant5r

The Group recognized provision for expected warranty claims during the first two or three
years, depending on model type, after the product is sold based on experience ofthe level
of repair and returns. The assumptions used to calculate the provision for warranties were
based on current sales levels and current information available about repairs and returns
based on the warranty period for all products sold. Management reassesses these estimates
at the end of each reporting date.

-39-
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CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEiT,IENTS

S Revenue and segment information

The CODM has been identified as the Chief Executive Officer and executive management of the
Company that make strategic decisions. The CODM regard the Group's business as a single
operating segment and review consolidated financial statements accordingly. As the Group has only
one operating segment qualified as reporting segment under IFRS 8 and the information that
regularly reviewed by the directors of the Group for the purposes of allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segment is the financial statements of the Group, no
separate segmental analysis is presented in the consolidated financial statements.

Revenue from external customers is measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
financial statements of profit or loss.

Since over 9o% of the Group's revenue and operating profit are generated from transactions that
are registered and closed within the United States, no geographical information is presented.

During the Track Record Period, no customer individually contributes roo/o or above of the Group's
total revenue. Accordingly, no analysis of major customers was presented for the Track Record
Period.

The revenue breakdown of different revenue streams for the years ended December Jl,2cl2L,2cl22
and zoz3 is as follows:

Aircraft
US$'ooo

Year ended December gt,2o.21
Cirrus

Services &
Other (Note) Total

US$'ooo US$'ooo

rr8,5r8 738,130Revenue from external customers

Timing of revenue recognition
- At a point in time
- Over time

Total

Revenue from external customers

Timing of revenue recognition
- At a point in time
- Over time

6t9,6tz

6t9,6tz 75,477
43,o41

6:19,6tz rr8,5r8

Year ended December g!,2c.22
Cirrus

Services &
Aircraft Other (Note)

US$'ooo US$'ooo

759,740 t34,342

759,740 96,970
37,372

695,o89

43,o4L

738,130

Total
US$'ooo

894,o82

856,7ro

37,372

894,o82Total

-40-

759,740 r34,342



5

CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEIVIENTS

Revenue and segment inforrnation (Continued)

Year ended December 3r,2o2B
Cirrus

Services &
Aircraft Other (Note)

US$'ooo US$'ooo

9r5,654 t52tO54 L,O67,7o8Revenue from external customers

Timing of revenue recognition
- At a point in time
- Over time

Employee benefit expenses (Note 8)
Raw materials
Preflown inventory
Insurance and product liability
Outside commissions and referrals
Lease expenses

Depreciation of property, plant, and
equipment (Note 13)

Depreciation ofright-of-use assets (Note z4)
Amortization of intangible assets (Note 14)

Advertising costs

Listing expenses

Legal and professional fees (Note)
Supplies
Repairs and maintenance
Service expenses

utilities
Freight charges

Research

Vehicle expense

Travel and entertainment
Meetings
Real estate and miscellaneous tax
Other expenses

Total cost of sales, selling and marketing,
general and administrative expenses

Total
US$'ooo

L,O26,478

4L,23o
975,654 tto,824

4r,23o

Total 9r5,654 L52,O54 L,O67,7OB

Note:
Revenue from Cirrus Services & Other includes sales and services made to related parties of the
Group (Note 3r).

6 Expenses bynature

Year ended December 3t,

167s43
294,487

9,597
8,gsz

Lr,743

3,613

2021
US$'ooo

2022
US$'ooo

2o6,667

336,40t
2L,3L3

8,539
t5,730

4,28t

13,596

3,995
r5,866
ro,438

2023
US$'ooo

254,299

394,o44
26,25s
17,9o4
L7,594

4,728

t8,248
2,507

L4,42t

9,489

t6,857

4,O68
15,650

13,283

7,243
t3,296
t3,259
L9,tO7

87,t32
5,133

4,232
9,455
4,9o4
5,L42
3,426
r,388
6,s67

9,595
9,O58
tt,3t4

58,824
3,44r
2,649

5,556
3,211
2,355
t,6L9
1,o58

6,822

1O,415

1O,831

15,738

70381
5,o28
4,337

to,z6g
4,522
4,268
2,988
1,355

9,774

944,966

-4L-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATENIENTS

Expenses by nature (Continued)

Note: Auditor's remuneration

The following table represents remuneration for professional services rendered by the Company's
auditor for the audit of Company's consolidated financial statements for the years ended December

9r,2021, zozz and zoz3, and fees billed for other non-audit services rendered by the auditor during
those years. Expenses for auditor remuneration are included in legal and professional fees above.

Audit fees

Non-audit fees

Total

7 Other income, net

Government grant
Others

Wages and salaries
Pension costs - defined contribution
plans

Insurance and other benefits
Payroll taxes

Year ended December 3t,
202L 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo

Year ended December 3t,
202t 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo

74r,540

3,9o9
t2,767
9,127

173,667

5,326
L6,2Sg
tt,42l

2O23
US$'ooo

925

2023
US$'ooo

L,372

r,372

2L2,4L3

7,o9L
22,3O5
L2,490

459
75

442
8s

925527534

5,L25
2'36r

4,2c,6
573

7,486 4,779

I

There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching to these government grants.

Employee benefit extr)enses

Employee benefit expenses incurred for the years and included in the profit or loss are presented
as follows:

Year ended December 3t,
2021 2022 2023

US$'oooUS$'ooo US$'ooo

Total employee benefit exlrenses

- 42-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8 Employee benefit expenses (Continued)

In addition, the Group has capitalized employee benefit expenses associated with property, plant
and equipment, and intangible assets (development activities) of approximately US$7,Bz4,ooo,
US$r5,949,ooo and US$z3,So3,ooo for the years ended December gr, 2o2t, zozz and zozg
respectively.

The Group maintains a defined contribution deferred compensation plan under Section +or(k) of
the Internal Revenue Code. Under the Plan, employees may elect to defer up to 1oo percent of their
salary, subject to U.S. Internal Revenue Service limit. In 2o2o, the Group increased their safe
harbor contribution up to 5 percent of an employees' annual salary. The Group may make an
additional discretionary matching contribution, subject to approval by the Board of Directors. In
2c,21, 2oz2 and zoz3, the Group made contributions of approximately USgg,9o9,ooo,
US$S,3z6,ooo and US$T,ogr,ooo,respectively.

During the years ended December g\ 2ozL, zozz and 2023, no forfeited contributions were utilized
by the Group to reduce its contributions for the years.

(a) Five highest paid individuals

The five indMduals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group include r director for
the years ended December S\ 2c.21, zozz andzoz3, whose emoluments are reflected in the
analysis shown in Note 33. The emoluments payable to the remaining 4 individuals during
the relevant years are as follows:

Year ended December 3r,
2021 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo

t,857 L,73LWages and salaries
Pension costs - defined
contribution plans

Insurance and other benefits

The emoluments fell within the following bands

Emolument bands (in HK$)
HK$6,ooo,o01 - HK$6,500,000
HK$6,5oo,o01 - HK$7,ooo,ooo
HK$7,5oo,oor - HK$8,ooo,ooo
HK$9,ooo,oor - HK$g,soo,ooo
HK$ ro,ooo,oor -HK$ ro,5oo,ooo
HK$rr,ooo,oor - HK$rr,Soo,ooo
HK$rz,ooo,oo1 - HK$12,Soo,ooo

S6
9,678

39
2,947

4,717

2O23
US$'ooo

r,Br6

S6
3,728

5,57L 5,6oo

Number of individuals
Year ended December 3t,

202t 2022 2O23

1

3

1

1

1

1

1

1

2

- 43-
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Finance costs

Year ended December 3t,
2021 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo
2o23

US$'ooo

Interest expenses on
- borrowings
- lease liabilities

2,O9O
L,4t9

2,596

Year ended December 3t,
202L 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo

6og
4,818

7LL

3,509 3,L99 5,529

1() Income tax

(a) Cayman Islands income tax

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands and is not subject to corporate income
taxes.

(b) US Corporation tax

The Group's subsidiaries in the United States are subject to US federal and state income
tax. US federal tax have been provided at the rate of zt%o on the estimated assessable profit
during the years ended December gL, 2o2r, zozz and 2o2g respectively, while the state
income tax rate varies by state.

(c) The United Kingdom ("UK') corporate income tax

The Group's subsidiary in the United Kingdom is subject to UK corporation income tax and
have been provided at the rate of 19% on the estimated assessable profit during the years
ended December gL,2o2L, zozz andzozg.

(d) The amount of income tax charged to the consolidated statements of profit or loss
represents:

2023
US$'ooo

Current income tax:
Current tax for the year
Under/(over) provision in
prior year

Deferred income tax (Note z8)

Total

8,9r9

2L3

4,665

z6,7Br

L,765
(2,688)

3L,429

(r,ggz)
(r,99o)

-44-
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1() Income tax (Continued)

(e) The income tax on the Group's profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount
that would arise using the taxation rate in US as follows:

Year ended December 3t,
202L 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo

86,zoo 1O8,934Profit before income tax

Calculated at a taxation rate of
zt%"

Change in deferred rate
Deferred tax assets not previously
expected to be utilized

Corporate state tax charged
Expenses (benefit) for excludable
items

Tax credits
Withholding tax
Others

Income tax expenses for the year

Profit attributable to the owners of
the Company (US$'ooo)

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue (Note)

Basic earnings per share (expressed
in US$/share)

2O23
US$'ooo

rr8,585

t8,toz

8+z

(2,566)
t,56t

(3,o14)
(6sq)

@zq)

L3,797

72,4o3

t55,48t,699

o.47

22,876

97

(t,sro)
1,958

(2,o49)
(r,6gB)

r,rB4

24,903

210

0gs)
2,629

(rrr)
(g,zz4)
3,ooo

83o

zo,B58 27,442

11

The effective tax rate was t6.o percent, r9.r percent, and z3.r percent for the years ended
December gL,2o2L, zozz and 2o2g respectively.

(0 IAS rz Income Taxes Amendment

In May, 2023, the IASB published an amendment to IAS tz Income Taxes. This amendment
introduced a temporary exception from accounting for deferred taxes arising from the
implementation of the OECD Pillar Tlvo model rules. In accordance with the amendment,
the Company has applied the temporary exception to recognizing and disclosing
information about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar Tlvo income taxes.

Earnings per share

(a) Basic earnings per share

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to shareholders
of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
years ended December gL,2o2r, zozz andzozg.

Year ended December 3t,
2O2r 2022 2023

88,o76

t59,48t,659

o.57

9r,r43

r55,48r,659

o.59

Note: The earnings per share presented above have not been taken into account the
proposed share subdivision pursuant to the resolutions in writing of all shareholders passed
on June zS,2cl24 because the proposed share subdivision has not become effective as at
the date ofthis report. 

_ 4s_
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Earnings per share (Continued)

(b) Diluted earnings per share

As the Company has no dilutive instruments for the years ended December 3L,2o2L,2ce2
and zoz3, the Group's diluted earnings per share equals to its basic earnings per share.

Dividends

In June zoz3, the Company declared and paid an interim dividend to CAIGA Hong Kong in the
amount of US $6,5o0,000 in respect of the Group's profits.

Property, plant and equipment

Machinery

Buildings

US$'ooo

and

equipment

US$'ooo

Aircraft and

vehicles

US$'ooo

Offrce

equipment

US$'ooo

Construction

in progress

US$'ooo

Total

US$'ooo

At January tr 2o2r
Cost

Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended December
31r 2O2l

Opening net book amount

Additions

Disposals

Depreciation charge

At December g1, zozt
Cost

Accumulated depreciation

Netbook amount

Year ended December
37,r2()22

Opening net book amount

Additions

Disposals

Depreciation charge

42,2O9
(rs,6zz)

65,o18

(sg,sz6)
30,837
(8,62o)

22,592

(rs,szB)
3,487 164,143

02,+6t)

zB,57z 25,442 zz,t67 7,Ot4 5,4a7 86,682

(r,gzo) (rr,o68)

Closing net book amount 42,92c 16,6ro z4,z6z

zB,57z

15,668

25,442

2,236

67,2s4

Go,6cc)

zz,t67
6,662
(r,+s8)

(s,o6s)

35,835
(rr,szs)

7,o14
r,r3B

(z,zsr)

3,487
2O,1O8

86,68Z

45,8t2
(r,+s8)

(r8,248)

5,361

23,730

(r8,s6q)

23,595

23,595

rr2,748

2o8,29r
(ss,s+s)

57,877
(rc,gsz)

42,920 L6,6to z4,z6z 5,361 23,595

42,920

t6,48o
r6,6ro

9,240
(zr)

@,o26)

24,262

6,9r9
5,361

4,698

23,595

zSBt6

rt2,748

Lr2,748

62,693

(zr)
(r9,596)(z,4og)

zr,8o3

(4,ozt) (g,ogo)

6,969Closing net book amount 56,99r

-46-
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18 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Buildings

US$'ooo

Machinery

and

equipment

US$'ooo

Aircraft and

vehicles

US$'ooo

Office

equipment

US$'ooo

Construction

in progress

US$'ooo

Total

US$'ooo

27o,5L9

(ro8,Z3S)
74,357

(rZ,S66)
76,473

Gc,6zo)
42,350

(r5,z4o)
28,428
(zr,+sg)

48,911

At December Bt,2o22
Cost

Accumulated depreciation

Netbook amount

Year ended December

31,2()23
Opening net book amount

Additions

Transfer

Disposals

Depreciation charge

Closing net book amount

AtDecember 91, 2tr23

Cost

Accumulated depreciation

At January 1, 2021
Cost

Accumulated amortization

86,99r zr,Bo3 27,LLO 6,g69 48,9u t6t,784

56,997

33,286

(2,26L)

21,8o3

71,987

(ao)

G,r+z)

27,t7O

2368

8,631

(+,zss)

6,969

3,994

12,612

(zt6)

(s,rs+)

48,9tr

46,9so

(66,sr6)

16t,784

53,312

(so6)

(r6,8sZ)

88,or6

to7,64g

(rg,6zz)

28,613

88,43o

Gs,8rz)

33,854

53,349

(r9,495)

r8,1o5

44,758
(z6,6ss)

29,345

29,345

t97,933

323,525

(rz5,59z)

Net book amount 88,o16 28,6r3 33,854 18,1o5 29,345 r97,933

Details of the properfy, plant and equipment pledged to the Group's borrowings are included in
Note 23.

t4 Goodwill and intangible assets

Customer

Trademark relationships

Us$'ooo Us$'ooo

r9,6oo

Aircraft

tlpe
certificates

US$'ooo

244,912

(4oo) (4s,644)

Internally
developed

intangible

assets

US$'ooo

17,473

(+,82o)

Sub-total Goodwill Total

Us$'ooo Us$'ooo Us$'ooo

400 282,985

(so,86+)

rts,923 398,308
(so,86+)

Net book amount 19,6oo

-47-
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Goodwill and intangible assets (Continued)

Year ended December

3L,2021
Opening net book amount

Additions

Amortization charge

Closing net book amount

At December 91, 2021

Cost

Accumulated amortization

Net book amount

Year ended Deember
3L,2022

Opening net book amount

Additions

Amortization charge

Closing net book amount

At December 91, 2022
Cost

Accumulated amortization

Net book amount

Yearended December

31,2O23
Opening net book amount

Additions

Amortization charge

Closing net book amount

At December 3r, zoz3
Cost

Accumulated amortization

Customer

Trademark relationships

US$'ooo Us$'ooo

r9,6oo

Aircraft

true
certificates

US$'ooo

t99,268

(ro,g8+)

Internally

developed

intangible

assets

US$'ooo

r2,653

8,4o1

@,osz)

Sub-total

US$'ooo

231,521

8,4or
(1^4,42r)

Goodwill

US$'ooo

LL',923

Total

US$'ooo

347,444

8,401

04,421)

19,6oo

19,6oo 400
(+oo)

188,884

244,9r2

(s6,oz8)

25,875

(8,8s8)

z9o,j87
(65,286)

t7,o77 225,5o1 rr5,923 341,424

775,923

188,884 t7,or7 225,5O7 715,923 34L,424

406,770

165,286)

19,6oo

19,60o 188,884

(1r,452)

17,or7

21,685

(+,+r+)

47,559
(8,zzt)

34,28A

29,503

(g,r8z)

225,5O7

21,685

(1s,866)

372,471

(8r,rsr)

115,923 347,424

zr,68S

(1s,866)

19,6oo

r9,60o

r77,432 34,288 2gr,32o 115,923 347,243

400
(+oo)

244,912

(6z,q9o)
115,923 428394

(8r,r5r)

19,600 r77,432 34,288 2S1,Z2o tt1,g2g B4Z,24B

19,6oo 177,432

(rz,+68)

164,964 60,609 24S,7ZB

775,923 347,243

29,503
(rS,6So)

7ts,92g 361,096

457,897
(g6,8or)

237,32O

29,503

(rs,6so)

19,6oo

19,6oo 400
(4oo)

244,912 34r,974 115,923

0g,g+8) (g6,8or)
77,062
(r6,+se)

Net book amount 19,6oo

48

764,964 60,609 24s,7z\ 17s,928 36r,o96
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Goodwill and intangible assets (Continued)

Details of the Group's intangible assets pledged to the Group's borrowings are included in Note
23.

The Group's goodwill is related to the acquisition of Cirrus Industries, Inc. in zorr.

Impairment tests for goodwill and trademark

The Group assesses whether there has been an impairment of goodwill and trademark annually or
whenever an event occurs, or circumstances change that would indicate the carrying amount may
be impaired. The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit was determined based on a value-
in-use discounted cash flow calculation which requires the use of assumptions. The discounted cash
flow calculation uses cash flow projections developed based on financial budgets approved by
management of the cash generating unit covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-
year period are extrapolated using an estimated annual growth of three percent. A pre-tax discount
rate of approximately 18 percent was adopted for the valuation, which reflects market assessments
of time value and the specific risks relating to the industry that the cash generating unit operates.
The financial projections were determined by management based on past performance and its
expectation for market development. The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit was
determined to be in excess of the carrying value and is not unduly sensitive to changes in
management's stated assumptions.

In accordance with IAS 36, the impairment assessment will be performed for year-end reporting.
For the impairment test for goodwill and trademark as of December gr, zozL, zozz and 2023, the
key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations are disclosed below:

202L

t8c%

As of December 3r,
2022

t8%"

37%

3%

567,O70
558,867
6BS,zBg

2o23

LB%

460,427
444,844
570,353

Pre-tax discount rate
Gross profit margin
l,ong term gror,vth rate

Pre-tax discount rate increaseby g%
Gross profit margin decrease by 3%
Long term growth rate decreaseby t%

35%

3%

37%

3%

Based on the results of the impairment assessment, the directors of the Group concluded that no
impairment on goodwill and trademark has to be recognized during the Track Record Period.

Sensitivity analysis

Based on the results of goodwill and trademark impairment testing, the estimated recoverable
amounts as of December 31, 2o2t^, 2cl22 and 2o2g amounted to US$999,5o1,ooo,
US$r,ro9,oz2,ooo and US$r,o77,5SS,ooo, respectively.

Possible change in key Recoverable amount of the CGU exceeding itsassumptions ffi;::#ol,#
2O2L 2022 2023

US$'ooo US$'ooo US$'ooo

556,o36
56o,tz7
662,453
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CIRRUSAIRCRAFT LTMMED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEIVIENTS

Financial assets at fairvalue through other comprehensive income

The balance represents investment in debt securities by the Group. The fair values of such financial
assets are within level z of the fair value hierarchy (Note 3.3).

Financial assets at fairvalue through profit or loss

Movements of the Group's financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are as follows:

Year ended December 3t,
202L 2022 2O23

US$'oooUS$'ooo US$'ooo

16

a7

All financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are denominated in US$ as of January 17 2o2r,
December g!, 2o2r, zozz and zozg.

The fair values of such financial assets are within level r of the fair value hierarchy (Note g.g).

Advances to suppliers

Mutualfunds
At beginning of the year
Purchase
Disposal
Fair value adjustments

At end of the year

Advances to suppliers
Less: Non-current advances to

suppliers

Current portion of advances to
suppliers

L1145

397
(rsz)
ezs)

lroLT

424
(rrB)
295

21228

527
(z,oz4)

4r4

L,145 7r0l7

As of December 3r,
2022

US$'ooo

9,BBO

(+,ssg)

r,6rB

2O23
US$'ooo

2L,O2O

(8,832)

As of
January 1,

202L
US$'ooo

ro,9B6

Q,gsg)

202L
US$'ooo

9,347

(z,Bz3)

6,o47 6,524 5,32\ rz,t8B

The carrying amounts of the Group's advances to suppliers were denominated in US$.
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CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMff ED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEIIENTS

Inventories

Inventorybalances as of January L,2o2r, December gL,2o2L, zozz and 2o2g are as follows

As of
January 1, As of December 3r,

202L

Raw materials
Work in process

Finished goods

Preflown inventory
Merchandise

Less: provision for inventory
obsolescence

Current portion
Accounts receivables

Less: Provision for impairment
(Note (i))

Accounts receivables, net
Notes and other receivables
(Note (ii))

Prepaid listing expenses

Non-current portion
Notes receivables

As of
January 1,

202L
US$'ooo

2022
US$'ooo

75,664
39,672

903

rt6,23g

(g,zzz)

As of December 3r,
2022

US$'ooo

6,74s

(qog)

2O23

US$'ooo

9,752

(z,gsg)

US$'ooo

44,777
29,o36

2021
US$'ooo

46,696
44,294

7,483
3,622

672

toz,767

(2,o59)

66+

2o23
US$'ooo

89,804

40,977
2,8s4
5,260

88r

139,776

(5,zro)

72,947 roo,7o8 L13,O77 44,566

The amount of inventories recognized as "raw materials" in cost of sales during the years ended
December gL, 2o2t, zozz and 2023 amounted to IJS$2g4,487,ooo, US$336,4or,ooo, and
US$394,o44,ooo respectively.

Provision for impairment of US$678,ooo, US$r,578,ooo, and US$4,877,ooo were recognized for
the years ended December Jt,2o2r, zozz and2o23 respectively, in the consolidated statements of
profit or loss as cost of sales.

tg Accounts, notes and other receivables and prepayments

74,477

(r,seo)

3,8oo

(so+)

2027
US$'ooo

4,2o8

(rgr)

3,496

529

4,oL7

r,3BB

5,836

8,r54

7,399

1rOO3

1,267

4,025 5,405 13,ggo 9,669

100

-51 -
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CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEIVIENTS

Accounts, notes and other receivables and prepayments (Continued)

Note:

(i) The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure ECL which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all accounts receivables. Information about the impairment of
accounts receivables and the Group's exposure to credit risk has been disclosed in Note 3.r.

(ii) Notes and other receivables comprise insurance receivables of US$393,ooo, US$343,ooo,
US$r,763,ooo and US$zB3,ooo as of January L,2o2L, December Bt,2o2r, zozz andzozg
respectively. In addition, notes and other receivables comprise other receivables of
US$rg6,ooo, US$r,o45,ooo, US$6,391,ooo and US$7zo,ooo as of January t, 2o2L,
December gt,2o2r, zozz and 2023 respectively.

Accounts receivable comprised credit to customers, including individuals and service center
network, who purchase aviation parts for repairs. Standard invoice terms for sales of aircraft and
sales of aviation parts are due upon delivery and 30 days, respectively.

The aging analysis of accounts receivables based on the invoice date is as follows:

Current-6o days
6r-9o days

9r-rzo days
Over rzo days

As of
January 1,

2021
US$'ooo

2,993
4o6

7
394

As of December 3r,
202L 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo

4,oLL
185
t2

6,238
386
t2t

2023
US$'ooo

9,752

2023
US$'ooo

7,325
Bgg
8sq
68o

At beginning of the year
Provision for impairment recognized

during the year
Receivables written off during the year as
uncollectible

At end oftheyear

3,8oo 4,2o8 6,74s

Year ended December 3t,
202L 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo

(rrg)

909

The Group establish an allowance based upon factor surrounding the credit risk of specific
customers, customer payment history and other factors.

Movements in the provision for impairment of accounts receivables that are assessed for
impairment collectively are as follows:

191

ntn

(s)

304 909

1,444

2,353L9L

The carrying value of the Group's accounts and other receivables approximate their fair value and
mainly denominated in US$.
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CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEIVIENTS

Cash and cash equivalents - Group and Company

Cash and cash equivalents - Group

As of
January 1, As of December 3r,

2021 2021 2022
US$'ooo US$'ooo US$'ooo

(a)

Cash at banks and on hand
Short-term bank deposits

15r,r8r
5,585

r79,B4r
r,540

241,7Or
1,553

2023
US$'ooo

245,3r4
1,555

(b)

21

(a)

156,766 r8r,38r z4g,214 246,869

Cash and cash equivalents - Company

The balance represents the cash at a bank as of December gr,2o2S.

Share capital and resenre - Group and Company and investrnent in a subsidiary

Share capital - Group andCompany

Authorized
25o,ooo,ooo ordinary shares of US$ r each as of

December gL, 2o2t, zozz and zozg

Issued:
As ofJanuary L,2o2L, December gt,2o2L,zozz and

2023

(b) Reserves - Group

Balance as ofJanuary t,2c,2:-

Fair value loss on financial assets at FVOCI, net of tax

Balance as of Decemb er gL, 2o2L

Balance as ofJanuary L,zozz

Fair value loss on financial assets at FVOCI, net oftax

Balance as of Decembet gL,2c.22

The Company
Numberof Nominalvalue

shares US$

25O,OOO,OOO 25O,OOO,OOO

155,48r,659 155,48r,659

Capital
reserve
(Note)

US$'ooo

(rrg,48z)

(r13,48z)

(r$,482)

Fair value
reserve of

FVOCI assets
US$'ooo

9

(s)

4

4

(r)

3

53
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CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Share capital and reserve - Group and Company (Continued)

Resenres - Group (Continued)

21.

(b)

(c)

(d)

Balance as ofJanuary L,2o2S

Fair value gain on financial assets at FVOCI, net of tax

Balance as of December 31, 2023

(r13,4Bz)

(rr3,482)

Note:

Capital reserves represents the combined paid-in capital of the group companies after elimination
of inter-company investments and the debit to capital reserves arising from the allotment and
issuance of ordinary shares of the Company upon completion of the Reorganization.

Reserve - Company

The balance represents capital reserve in the Company arising from the allotment and issuance of
ordinary shares of the Company upon the completion of the Reorganization (Note r.z).

Investrnent in a subsidiary - Company

As of December gr,2o2r, zozz and zoz3, the balance represents the Company's interest in Cirrus
Industries, Inc.. Details of the subsidiaries of the Company are disclosed in Note r.z.

22 Accounts and other payables

Capital
reserve
(Note)

US$'ooo

As of December 3r,
202L 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo

Fair value
reserve of

FVOCI assets
US$'ooo

2023
US$'ooo

6o,53o
10,O33

t49,466
t2l

3

L

4

Accounts payables
Employee wages and benefits

payable

Accrued liabilities
Customer deposits
Interest payable

As of
January t,

202L
US$'ooo

29,773

34,497
2,143

83,8s9
170

r50,442

4r,976
2,897

L45,2O4

68

48'379
r6,9o8

r65,ro5
2to

4t,65t 45,o78 42,428

23t,796 275,68o 262,578
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

at, Accounts and other payables (Continued)

The aging analysis of the accounts payables based on invoice date was as follows:

Current - 30 days

3r - 6o days
6r - rzo days
over rzo days

Non-current
Long-term bank borrowings
Long-term other borrowings
Less: current portion oflong-term
bank and other borrowings

Current
Current portion of long-term bank
borrowings

Current portion oflong-term other
borrowings

As of December 3r,
2021 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo

As of
January 1,

2021
US$'ooo

z9,o6o
75

6s8

As of
January 1,

2021
US$'ooo

rB9,BB7

5,405

t23,t52

467

tz3,6t9

L95,292

As of December 3t,
90t,

US$'ooo

44,t68
201
325
384

7L,250
4,444

7,5oo

202L
US$'ooo

4t,tz9
22

5
496

2023
US$'ooo

2o23
US$'ooo

6g,7so
4,OOO

11,25O

551

42,o t:

7
408

29,773 4t,65r 45,078 42,428

The carrying values of the accounts and other payables approximate their fair values as of January
t,2o2t, December 91,2c.21, zozz andzozg.

28 Borrowings

66,78s
4,938

(tzg,6r9) (15,36o) (8,o44) (rr,8or)

7L,673 56,313 67,65o 55,949

14,830

530 544

r5,360 8,o44 11,8ot

7r,673 75,694 67,7so

The carrying amounts of the Group's borrowings approximate their fair values since the interest
payable on those borrowings is close to the current market rates. The Group's borrowings from a

commercial bank bear interest at the 3o day SOFR average rate plus t.B5%. These borrowings are
collateralized by a security interest in substantially all the tangible and intangible assets of the
Group. The Group's borrowings from a local government entity bear interest at g% and are
collateralized by the related property.

The borrowings from a commercial bank carry certain covenants based on financial and non-
financial measures. The Group was in compliance with all covenants as of January r, 2o2L,
December 3t, 2o2L, zozz and zozg,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEIT,IENTS

2g Bomowings (Continued)

Future contractual maturities of long-term debts are as follows

As of
January 1,

202L
US$'ooo

tz3,6t9

15,31O

53,442
2,921

195,292

As of
January 1,

202L
US$'ooo

zt,468
to4

L,6LL

779
103

24,o65

5,860
L6,286

As of December 3r,
202L 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo

15,360

52,349

2O23
US$'ooo

8,o44 tt,Bot

tt,7L2 15,531

Within oneyear
Greater than one year and
less than two years

Greater than two years and
less than five years

More than five years

(i)

Right-of-use assets
Building
Equipment
Land
Aircraft
Vehicles

Lease liabilities
Current
Non-current

1,59o
2,374

54,L44
1,794

39,198
lr22O

Revolving borrowings

In July zoz2,lheGroup entered into a credit agreementwhich contained both a committed
and uncommitted revolving line of credit. The committed line of credit is not to exceed
US$37,5oo,ooo and is collateralized by the assets of and equlty interests in Cirrus
Industries, Inc. The uncommitted line of credit is not to exceed US$5o,ooo,ooo and if
exercised is collateralized by the assets of and equity interests in the Group. As of December
gr,2e.22 and zoz3, there was no amount outstanding on the revolving line of credit.

24 Riglrt-of-use assets and lease liabilities

Details of the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are as follows:

7r,673 75,694

As of December 3r,
202t 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo

roJ49 12,318

400
3,r54

250
628

6T,7so

2023
US$'ooo

704

556
467
507

l)

7,r34
735

3,965
66

1,o49

t2,783 16,75o t2,949

2,64t
tt,764

6,472
1'1,920

2,950
t2,o7o

zz,t46 14,405 r8,392 15,O2O

Additions to the right-of-use assets were US$7,o16,000, US$rz,458,ooo and US$4,o45,ooo for the
years ended December gL,2o2r, zozz and2o2g respectively. Disposals and expirations of right-of-
use assets were US$r5,82o,ooo, US$7,zo6,ooo and US$, , Tz,ooo for the years ended December
gr,2o2\ zozz and zoz3 respectively.
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CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

night-of-use assets and lease liabilities (Continued)

Amount recognized in the consolidated statements of profit or loss are as follows:

Year ended December 3t,
202L 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo

Depreciation charge of right-of-use
assets

Building
Equipment
Land
Aircraft
Vehicles

2,5o7 3,995

,324
155

103
tao
181

3992
54
55

237
169

1,

2023
US$'ooo

3,$6
286
tz6
239
267

4,068

7LL

4,728

Interest expense
Bxpenses relating to short-term leases

At beginning of the year
Additions
Settlements made
Change in estimate

At end oftheyear

Representing:
Non-current portion
Current portion

L,419

3,613

Year ended December 3r,
202L 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo

6o3
4,281

The total cash outflow for leases was US$6,r37,ooo, uSg8,z55,ooo and US$8,3rz,ooo for the years
ended December gL,2o2t, zozz and 2023, respectively.

The Group leases various offices, warehouses, equipment, vehicles and aircraft. Rental contracts
are typically made for fixed periods of r year to So years but may have extension options. Extension
options are included in various building and land leases across the Group. These are used to
maximize operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the Group's operations.
Extension options held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective lessor.

25 Accruedwarran\r

2023
US$'ooo

L3,783
19,847

(rt,z96)
(r,287)

2L,O47
tz,4o6

(t6,8zz)
2,84o

19,47L

4,9os
L4,566

L9,47L
]6,927

(ro,35r)
t,85o

21,O47

4,o43
L7,OO4

27,897

7'363
20,534

Total

-57-
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CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\{ENTS

Accrued product liability

Year ended December 3t,
2021 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo

27,O35 33,434At beginning of the year
Additional unlimited loss expense

incurred
Reduction in unlimited loss expense
Settlement paid

11,15O

(r,roo)
(g,6sr)

37,873
(z,roo)

(rr,75o)

2O23
US$'ooo

57,457

2B,ooo
(2,o93)

(+B,ogg)

At end of the year 33,434 57,457 35,325

For many insurance policies that an entity may purchase from an unrelated third-party insurer, the
purchasing entity remains the primary obligor for a claim made by another individual or entity.
Therefore, an entity would need to recognize, measure, and present the claim liability as an
obligation without considering the potential insurance recovery. Separately, the entity would then
recognize and present a receivable for the insurance recovery that it is entitled to receive.

The Group is subject to product liability claims in the normal course of business. The Group
purchases insurance policies to protect against losses related to product liability claims, hull losses
for aircraft in the corporate owned fleet, excess general liability, and other physical damage. These
policies carry various coverage limits and cover losses and fees for litigation and defense on product
liability.

The Group retains self-insured exposure for product liability losses and defense costs up to
maximum per occurrence and aggregate limits on the entire product liability policy. The following
table represents the Group's aggregate exposure for these self-insured retention measures, in
addition to the annual policy premium, indicating that the Group would pay up to this maximum
level for any losses, settlement, and fees incurred for covered claims related to incidents occurring
in the policy year.

Policy year
ended June 3o

zo15-zo16
20L6-20L7
zotT-zot8
zo18-zor9
2Or9-2O2O
2020-202L
202t-2022
2022-2023

"4"3-rt"4

Aggregate
exposure
US$'ooo

5,640
3,935
3,79r
3,76c.
3,68O
3,BBO
4,ooo
4,ooo
4,745

The Group also maintains a too percent wholly owned captive insurance subsidiary. The roo
percent wholly owned captive insurer issued an indemnity policy to the Group for roo percent of
the value of any losses incurred under its self-insured retention policy years, as well as a legal
liability reinsurance policy for a portion of its product liability coverage, which is fully reinsured by
third-party insurers. During the zoz3-zoz4 policy year ended June 30, the Group directly incurs
the first US$4,745,ooo of any losses, settlement, and fees incurred for covered claims related to
incidents occurring in the policy year. Once the Group has incurred the aggregate US$4,74S,ooo of
expenses, the captive insurer's indemnity policy will cover 46.25 percent of the expense through
reinsurance policies exceeding US$4,ooo,ooo. The remaining SB.ZS percent is covered by other
insurers. The insured limit of liability is US$r5o,ooo,ooo.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Contract liabilities and contract assets

Details of the contract liabilities as of January 1, 2o2r, December gt, 2o2r, zozz and 2023 are as

follows:

As of
January 1,

202t
US$'ooo

(r,13g)

59,707

(2,r:.4)
Bo,73g

(gss)
Bs,st7

2O23
US$'ooo

Gzz)
roz,zBB

As of December 3r,
2021 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo

Contract assets
Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities, net

Current contract
(assets)/liabilities

Extended warranty
Maintenance
Development project
Commissions
Other

Non-current contract
(assets)/liabilities

Extended warranty
Maintenance
Commissions

58,574 78,5gg 85,16z tot,96t

4,OBB
t6,7zB
6,o3b
(rss)

L,O34

4,8s4
23,486

5,356
29,6o7

5,499
36,9t6

(rzs)
9,424

(zog)
4,583

(zrs)
2,826

27,732

t5,692
15,259

(rog)

37,589

17,r35
24,O2O

(r+s)

L9,9o9
z6,o6z

(rsz)

25,o77

31,970
(rrz)

39,343 45,o26

30,842 41,O10

As of December 3r,
202L 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo

45,8r9 56,935

2023
US$'ooo

r,813,819 t1729'O47

The overall contract liabilities increased as a result of the growth of the Group's business.

Revenue recognized for extended warranties was US$4,oB8,ooo, US$4,854,ooo and
US$5,356,ooo for the years ended December BL,2o2r, zozz and 2023 respectively, representing
contract liabilities recognized in the prior year. The Group also recognized revenue for maintenance
contracts of US$16,7z8,000, US$23,486,ooo and US$z9,6o7,ooo for the years ended December

BL,2o2L, zozz and zoz3 respectively, representing contract liabilities recognized in the prioryear.

The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations relating to the sales of aircraft and
the provision of Cirrus Services & Others during the Track Record Period:

Aggregate amount of the transaction
price allocated to unsatisfied
performance obligations t,3g2,o1o

Management expects that {!o/o of the transaction price allocated to unsatisfied performance
obligations as of December 31, 2023 will be recognized as revenue during the next reporting
period.
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CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Contract liabilities and contract assets (Continued)

The remaining will be recognized in the zoz5 and zoz6 financial years. The amount disclosed above
does not include variable consideration which is constrained.

Defered income tax

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

As of
January 1,

202t
US$'ooo

As of December 3r,
2021 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo
2O23

US$'ooo

Deferred income tax assets
- to be recovered after

more than rz months (4g,gog) (g4,r4Z) (+S,SBB) (6r,8S6)

Deferred income tax liabilities
- to be recovered after

more than rz months 68,476 s8,98s 62,738

The movement of the net deferred tax liabilities account is as follows:

Year ended December 3t,
202t 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo

77,Ot6

2O23
US$'ooo

At beginning of the year
Debited/(credited) to consolidated

statement of profit or loss (Note ro)

Accrued

liabilities
US$'ooo

20,L73

4,665

24,838

(2,688)

L7,75o

((r,ggo)

At end of the year Z4,B3B t7,t50 15,16O

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities, without taking into consideration the
offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

Deferred income tax assets -
Accrued

product

liability
US$'ooo

Net

operating

losses

US$'ooo

Tax

credits

US$'ooo

Capitalized

research

expenses

US$'ooo

Lease

liabilities
US$'ooo

Other

US$'ooo

Year ended December

3'^r2O2t
Opening book amount
(Credited)/charged to profit

or loss

(r6,83r)

(6,6o6)

(z,zoo)

(6sB)

(4,699) (13,40o)

136 t,584

(S,zoS) (r,o34)

2,979 L,72r

(zs,+sZ) (2,8S8) (+,+gZ) (r,816)Closing book amount

-6o-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Deferred income tax (Continued)

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities, without taking into consideration the
offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

Deferred income tax assets -

Accrued
liabilities
US$'ooo

Accrued

product

Iiability
US$'ooo

Net
operating

losses

US$'ooo

Tax
credits

US$'ooo

Capitalized

research

expenses

US$'ooo

(z,qzs)

Lease

liabilities
US$'ooo

Other
US$'ooo

(4,437)

r,266

(2,8s8)

(6oe)

Q,+gz)

1,OO3

(r,8r6)

8o

(z,zz6)

(8zz)

682

(q,8sz)

Year ended December
3'..,2022

Opening book amount
Charged/(credited) to profit

or loss

Closing book amount

Year ended December
3'^r2023

Opening book amount
Charged/ (credited) to profit

or loss

(22,r7t) (2,+6r) (s,cg$ U,Zs6) (2,+zg (3,o98) (4,zos)

(zz,r7r)

(8,388)

G,c6t)

3B

G,+g+)

2,537

(r,zs6)

29

0,czs)

(rr,B39)

(s,os8)

(86)

(4,zos)

t,44r

Closing book amount

Deferred income tax liabilities -

Year ended December 91, 2tr21
Openingbook amount
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss

Closingbook amount

Year ended December Btr zoz:r
Openingbook amount
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss

Closingbook amount

Year ended December 91, 2o2B
Openingbook amount
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss

(3o,ss9) G,qzg @sil 6,ZoZ) (tg,z6z) (s,r8+) (2,26+)

Right-of-use
assets

US$'ooo

Properly,
plant

and
equipment

US$'ooo

10,349
(r,674)

8,67s

8,67s
2,483

11,158

11,158

5,247

L6,4os

Intangible
assets

US$'ooo

47,895
LrL54

49,o49

49,o49
(r,sso)

47,499

47,499
9,926

57,425

5,232
(g,gzt)

L,26t

L,26L
2,82o

4,O81

4,o81
(8ss)

Closingbook amount

- 6t-
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Deferred income tax (Continued)

As of January r,2o2r, the Group carried a net deferred tax liability of US$zo,r73,ooo. Deferred tax
assets for unused federal tax losses of US$z3,B4B,ooo, state tax losses of US$Z,7rs,ooo and tax
credits of US$3,zo3,ooo as ofJanuary 1,2o2r have not been recognized and are either subject to
Section 3Bz limitations or are expected to expire unused.

As of Decemb er gL,2o2r,the Group carried a net deferred tax liability of US$z4,8g8,ooo. Deferred
tax assets for unused federal tax losses of US$z3,B4B,ooo, state tax losses of US$S,58r,ooo and tax
credits of US$z,77r,ooo as of Decembet g\,2o2r have not been recognized and are either subject
to Section 382 limitations or are expected to expire unused.

As of December 91,2022, the Group carried a net deferred tax liability of US$r7,r5o,ooo. Deferred
tax assets for unused federal tax losses of US$z3,B4B,ooo, state tax losses of US$4,156,000 and tax
credits of US$z,6z6,ooo as of December Br,2cz2 have not been recognized and are either subject
to Section 382 limitations or are expected to expire unused.

As of Decemb er SL,2o2S, the Group carried a net deferred tax liability of US$15,160,000. Deferred
tax assets for unused federal tax losses of US$23,848,ooo, state tax losses of US$z,58o,ooo and
tax credits of US$2,574,ooo as of December 91, 2o2S have not been recognized and are either
subject to Section 3Bz limitations or are expected to expire unused.

Regardless of management's expectations, there can be no assurance that the Group will generate
any specific level of continuing earnings.

The Group has uncertain tax positions for certain tax credit carryforwards in the amounts of
US$z,76o,ooo, Us$3,281,ooo and USg3,957,ooo as of December gL, 2ozL, 2c.22 and eoz3,
respectively.

Deferred income tax liabilities of approximately US$77,S96,ooo, USgro4,org,ooo and
US$rz8,633,ooo for the years ended December Zr,2o2L, zozz and 2023, respectively, have not
been recognized for the withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain
subsidiaries. Such amounts are permanently reinvested. Unremitted earnings totalled of
approximateh US$2S8,654,c,c,c., US$346,729,ooo and US$43r,37z,ooo at December Sr, 2o2L,
zozz and 2 o23, respectively.

Starting in 2c.22, the Group is required to capitalize their research & development expenses and
amortized over a period of 5 years if it is incurred within the United States or 15 years if it is incurred
out of the United States for tax purposes. As of December gL,2cl22 and zoz3, the Group has
capitalized research expenses of approximately US$2,+2g,ooo and US$r9,2 62,c,c,c., respectivily.

Commitments

(i) Capital commitrnents

As of January 1,2o2r, December gr,2ozr, zozz and2o23 the Group's capital commitment
on property, plant and equipment amounted to approximately Nil, USgg million, US$5
million and US$ B million, respectively.
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CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEIVIENTS

Notes to consolidated statements of cash flows

Net cash/(debt) reconciliation

The balances and movements of liabilities from financing activities for each of the years ended December 3t,
2o2L,2oz2 and zoz3:

As of
January t, As of December gr,

202r
US$'ooo

Cash and cash equivalents
Borrowings
Lease liabilities

t96,766
(t95,292)
(zz,t46)

r8r,38r
(zr,6zs)
(r4,4os)

2021
US$'ooo

2022
US$'ooo

243,254
(zs,6g+)
(r8,392)

2O23
US$'ooo

246,869
(6z,zso)
(rs,ozo)

(6o,672) 95,303 t49,t68 t64,o99

Net debt as of
January tr2o2l

Cash flows
Non-cash movement - interest

expenses
Non-cash movement - inception of

lease contracts
Non-cash movement - disposal and

expirations

Net cash as of
December 91, 2021

Cash flows
Non-cash movement - interest

expenses
Non-cash movement - inception of

lease contracts
Non-cash movement - disposal and

expirations

Net cash as of
December gt,2oz2

Cash flows
Non-cash movement - interest

expenses
Non-cash movement - inception of

lease contracts
Non-cash movement - other
Non-cash movement - disposal and

expirations

Net cash as of
December gtr2o2S

(roo)

4,2os 4,205

246,869

Cash and cash
equivalents

US$'ooo

tS6,Z66

z4,6tg

Borrowings
US$'ooo

(tgS,zgz)
rzg,6tg

Lease
liabilities
US$'ooo

(zz,t+6)
2,524

(t,4t9)

(7,ot6)

t3,652

Total
US$'ooo

(6o,6zz)

rso,zs8

(t,4t9)

(7,ot6)

t3,652

r8r,38r
6r,873

(zt,6Tz)
(4,ozt)

(t4,4os)

3,974

(6os)

(rz,458)

5,1OO

95,303
6t,826

(6os)

(rz,4S8)

5,1oo

243,254

3,6$

(zs,6gq)

8,o44
(r8,392)

3,629

0l)
(4,o4s)

294

t49,t68
15,288

0n)

(4,o4s)
194

- 6S-
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CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEIIENTS

81 Related parties transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one parLy has the ability, directly or indirectly, control the
other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operation
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control. Members
of key management and their close family members of the Group are also considered as related
parties.

The following significant transactions were carried out between the Group and its related pafties
during the Track Record Period. In the opinion of the directors of the Group, the related party
transactions were carried out in the normal course of business and at terms negotiatedbetween the
Group and the respective related parties.

(a) Names and relationships with related parties

Name of the related parties Nature of relationship
AVIC
CAIGA
CAIGA Hong Kong
AVIC General Huanan Aircraft Industry Co.,
Ltd. ("AG Huanan")
AVIC GENERAL Service Co., Ltd. ("AG
Services")
China Aviation Industry General Aircraft
Zhejiang Institute Co., Ltd. ("AGZhejiang")
Continental Aerospace Technologies, Inc.
("Continental")

Controlling shareholder
Controlling shareholder
Co ntrolling shareholder
Subsidiary of CAIGA

Subsidiaryof CAIGA

Subsidiaryof CAIGA

Associate of AVIC
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Related parties transactions (Continued)

(b) Significant transactions with related parties

Aircraft development fee
- AG Zhejiang

Provision of procurement support
and technical support service

- AGZhejiang

Provision of aircraft products
- AG Services

Aircraft kits sale
- AG Huanan

Program services
- AG Huanan

Purchase of engines and parts
- Continental

Year ended December 3t,
2021 2022

US$'ooo US$'ooo

tg,B77 5,506

381 953

3,7LO L,799

14,813 tt,z63

2,355 z,z8g

29,834 32,60r

2023
US$'ooo

4,7os

772

2,L6L

3,O46

786

43,9r3

-6S-
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Related parties transactions (Continued)

(c) Year end balances with related parties

As of
January t, As of December 3r,

2021 202L 2022
US$'ooo US$'ooo US$'ooo

2o23
US$'ooo

9,64L

Amounts due to related
parties (r,9o3) (S,tZg) (r,94r) (r,B9r)

The amounts due from/(to) related parties are trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand. The carrying value of these balance approximate their fair value are
and denominated in US$.

32 Key management compensation

The remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including amounts paid to the
Group's director as disclosed in Note 33 and certain highest paid individuals are disclosed in Note
8(a).

83 Benefits and interests of directors

(a) Directors'emoluments

The remuneration shownbelow represents remuneration receivedbythe directors in their capacity
as directors of the companies comprising the Group during the Track Record Period.

The remuneration of each director for the year ended December gr,2o2r are set out as follows:

Amounts due from related
parties 3,779

Allowances

and
Discretionary benefitsin

Salary bonuses kind
US$'ooo Us$'ooo Us$'ooo

3,679 4,800

Other emoluments
paid or receivable in
respect of director's

other services in
Employer's connection with the

contribution management of the
to a affairs ofthe

retirement company or its
benefit subsidiary
scheme undertaking

US$'ooo Us$'ooo

Director's
Name

Non-executive
directors

Mr. Qingchun
SONG

Mr. Liang LIU (i)

Executive
director and
Chiefexecutive

Mr. Zean

HoffmeisterVang
NIELSEN (ii)

fees

US$'ooo
Total

US$'ooo

4,22L108sz

8s7

3,374

3,374Total
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CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEITIENTS

BB Benefits andinterests of directors (Continued)

(a) Directors'emoluments(Continued)

(i) Mr. Liang LIU was appointed as the non-executive director of the Group in April zozr.

(ii) l[.lr.Zean Hoffrneister Vang NIELSEN was appointed as the executive director of the Group
in April zozr.

The remuneration of each director for the year ended December gr, 2c.22 are set out as follows:

Other

emoluments paid

or receivable in
respect of

director's other

services in
connection with

Employer's themanagement

Allowances contribution of the affairs of
and to a retirement the company or

Discretionary benefitsin benefit itssubsidiary

Salary bonuses kind scheme undertaking
US$'ooo US$'ooo US$'ooo US$'ooo US$'ooo

Name

Non-executive
directors

Mr. Qingchun
SONG

Mr. Liang LIU

Executive
director and
Chiefexecutive

Mr.Zean
Hoffmeister Vang

NIELSEN

Director's

fees

US$'ooo
Total

US$'ooo

3326

3j26

118+s

11

2,470

Total 8+s 2'474
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Bg Benefits and interests of directors (Continued)

(a) Directors'emoluments(Continued)

The remuneration of each director for the year ended December gt,2o2g are set out as follows:

Allowances

and

Discretionary benefitsin
Salary bonuses kind

US$'ooo US$'ooo US$'ooo

Other

emoluments paid

or receivable in
respect of

director's other

services in
Employer's connectionwith

contribution themanagement

to a ofthe affairs of
retirement the company or

benefit itssubsidiary
scheme undertaking

Us$'ooo US$'ooo

Name

Non-executive
directors

Mr. Qingchun
SONG

Mr. Liang LIU
Mr. LeiYANG (iii)
Mr. Yihui LI (iii)

Executive
director and
Chiefexecutive

Mr.7-ean

HoffmeisterVang

NIELSEN

Executive
director

Mr. HuiWANG
(iii)

Independent
non-executive
directors

Mr. Ian H CHANG

(iiD

Mr. Chung Man

lnuis LAU (iii)
Ms. Ferheen

MAHOMED (iii)

Total

Director's

fees

US$'ooo

Total

US$'ooo

3,944

3,944

1,O19 2,9L3 L2

12

These director, non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors were
appointed in June zoz3.

1,O19 2,913

(iii)
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CIRRUS AIRCRAFT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEIVIENTS

Benefits and interests of directors (Continued)

Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors' services

During the years ended December 3 L? 2o2L, zozz and zoz3, the Company did not pay consideration
to any third parties for making available directors' services.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and controlled entities with such directors

As of December 3t, 2021, 2cz2 and zoz3, there are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing
arrangements in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and controlled entities with
such directors.

(d) Directors' material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group's business to which
the Company was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Track Record Period or at any time during the years
ended December gL,2o2L, zozz andzozg.
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34 Litigation and contingent liabilities

As of the date of this report, the Group had several claims which are mostly product liability cases.
In these matters, the Group continues to vigorously defend its position and believes there is a
reasonable possibility for a favorable outcome to the benefits of the Group, or if not, the Group has
provided adequate provisions to cover potential losses, including a comprehensive liability
insurance program.

Based on the development of the litigation and independent legal advice obtained, management
considered that the ultimate disposition of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on
the Group's consolidated financial position, results of operations, or liquidity.

The Group continually assesses the comprehensive liability insurance policies to determine if each
case and claim are qualified as reinsurance recoverable as set out in Note 2.r8. In connection with
certain claims that reached final resolution in early zoz3, the Group has not yet received the
corresponding reimbursements from certain reinsurers pursuant to the reinsurance policy despite
the Group has provided all claim support to the reinsurers. Taking into consideration advices from
insurance broker and professional advisors, and the fact that other reinsurers in the aforesaid
claims have already reimbursed the Group, the Directors maintain these claims are valid, covered
by insurance and expect payments. The Group has engaged external counsel to serve demand
payment notices to certain ofthese two reinsurers but has not received any concrete response from
the reinsurers to bring a resolution of these outstanding reimbursements as of the date of this report.
The timing and level of recovery from the reinsurers is uncertain at the current stage. Thus, the
Group determined that balances are no longer virtually certain of collection and such balances
amounting to US$Z.9 million are derecognised in zoz3. The related cost is charged to general and
administration expense in the consolidated statements of profit and loss. The Group has terminated
ongoing relationships withthese reinsurers in the renewal of theJulyof zoz3 to Juneof zoz4 policy
year. In zoz3, the Group replaced these reinsurers with different reinsurers and still maintained
same insurance coverage.

gS Events after the reporting period

Pursuant to a management incentive plan adopted by Cirrus Industries Inc., the specific terms and
conditions of the special cash bonus in an aggregate amount no less than o.5% of the market
capitalisation of the Company immediately upon listing will be submitted to the board of Cirrus
Industries Inc. for approval and will be paid to the Group's key employees after the listing of the
Company. The estimated amount of the special cashbonus is of US$rz.B million (basedonthelow-
end of the Company's indicative offer price range, assuming the Over-allotment Option and the
Offer Size Adjustment Option are not exercised) or US$4.r million (based on the high-end of the
Company's indicative offer price range, assuming the Over-allotment Option and the Offer Size
Adjustment Option are not exercised).

Pursuant to the written resolutions of the shareholder passed on June 2g, 2024, each share with
par value US$r.oo in the then issued and unissued share capital of the Company will be subdivided
into two shares with par value of US$o.5o each upon the Global Offering becoming unconditional.
Following the share subdivision, the authorized share capital consists of US$z5o,ooo,ooo divided
into 5oo,ooo,ooo shares with a par value of US$o.5o each.

Save as those disclosed in this note, there were no other material subsequent events took place after
December gL,2o2g.
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